

Cisco Vision Content Planning and Specifications Guide

Dynamic Signage Director

Release 6.4

Last Updated: 2021-08-03

First Published: 2021-06-24

THE SPECIFICATIONS AND INFORMATION REGARDING THE PRODUCTS IN THIS MANUAL ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITH-OUT NOTICE. ALL STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS IN THIS MANUAL ARE BELIEVED TO BE ACCU-RATE BUT ARE PRESENTED WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. USERS MUST TAKE FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF ANY PRODUCTS.

THE SOFTWARE LICENSE AND LIMITED WARRANTY FOR THE ACCOMPANYING PRODUCT ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE. IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO LOCATE THE SOFTWARE LICENSE OR LIMITED WARRANTY, CONTACT YOUR CIS-CO REPRESENTATIVE FOR A COPY.

The Cisco implementation of TCP header compression is an adaptation of a program developed by the University of California, Berkeley (UCB) as part of UCB's public domain version of the UNIX operating system. All rights reserved. Copyright © 1981, Regents of the University of California.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER WARRANTY HEREIN, ALL DOCUMENT FILES AND SOFTWARE OF THESE SUPPLIERS ARE PROVIDED "AS IS" WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND THE ABOVE-NAMED SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, EX-PRESSED OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THOSE OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE.

IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THIS MANUAL, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

Any Internet Protocol (IP) addresses and phone numbers used in this document are not intended to be actual addresses and phone numbers. Any examples, command display output, network topology diagrams, and other figures included in the document are shown for illustrative purposes only. Any use of actual IP addresses or phone numbers in illustrative content is unintentional and coincidental.

All printed copies and duplicate soft copies of this document are considered uncontrolled. See the current online version for the latest version.

Cisco has more than 200 offices worldwide. Addresses, phone numbers, and fax numbers are listed on the Cisco website at www.cisco.com/go/offices.

Cisco and the Cisco logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Cisco and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and other countries. To view a list of Cisco trademarks, go to this URL: www.cisco.com/go/trademarks. Third-party trademarks mentioned are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (1721R)

© 2021 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

· ı | ı . ı | ı . cısco .

Contents

About This Guide
Cisco Creative Services for Cisco Vision
Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Documentation Go URL
Document Revision History
Document Organization
Related Documentation and Resources
Release-Specific Documents
Cisco Vision Documentation Notifications
Obtaining Cisco Product Documentation
Overview of Content Support in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director 11
Images
Video
External Content
External URLs
Detect X-Frame-Options in External URLs
External URLs as Channels
HTML Pass-Through
Vidgots
DMP Capabilities by Current Model 18
Overview of Content Deployment in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director 21
Workflow Summary for Content Deployment 21
Overview of Configuration Objects for Content Deployment
Zones, Groups, and Locations
Zones
Groups
Locations
Best Practices for Groups and Zones
l emplates
Playlists
Scripts

Cisco Systems, Inc. www.cisco.com

DMP-Created Channel Sources. Content Deployed From Local HDMI-In (HDMI-In Pass-Through) Streaming Options for Local HDMI-In to Multiple DMPs Video Streaming Methods Display Streaming HDMI-In Streaming Restrictions for HDMI-In Streaming Unicast Streaming	26 27 28 28 29 31 31
Video Wall Planning in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director	. 35
Video Walls	35
Dual Video	35
Video Synchronization	36
Macroblocking	36
Multicast Video Scaling	37
Supported Video and Audio Formats	37
Static Graphic Formats	40
Guidelines For Static Graphics	40
Event States and Event Scripts	41
Guidelines for Event States and Event Scripts	41
Guidelines for Video	42
Best Practices for Video Walls	42
Video Offset Control for Video Walls	43
2X2 Video Wall	43
Setting dmp.vsyncDomain Key	44
Setting dmp.pcr.mode Key	45
	45
Prerequisites for Video Walls.	45
	47
	47
	47
	40
Screen Template Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director	. 51
Default Screen Templates	51
Default Screen Template Dimensions	52
Template Resolutions	55
General Guidelines for All Screen Templates	55
Full Screen Default Templates.	55
3-Region Lwrapper Default Template	57
Full Screen Dual Video Default Template	58
Guidelines for Dual Video Screen Templates	59
Uual Video Screen Lemplates-Ennancements	60

Layering Content–What is Not Supported	. 62
Quad Template	. 63
Custom Screen Templates	. 64
Guidelines for Custom Screen Templates	. 64
Custom Overlay Screen Templates	. 65
Guidelines for Graphics in Overlay Screen Templates	. 65
Content Guidelines and Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.	. 67
Content Dimensions	. 67
Content Orientation	67
Portrait Mode Auto-Rotation	. 67
Flexible DMP Content Rotation	. 68
Automated Content Import to Library Inbox.	. 69
Content Scaling	. 73
Additional Guidelines for UHD Video Content	. 74
Best Practices for UHD Video Content.	. 74
Restrictions for UHD Video Content	. 74
Content Types and Use Specifications	. 75
Quad-Region Template Specifications	. 75
Enabling Dolby Vision	. 75
HDR10 Content	. 76
HTML Content Creation Guidelines for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director	77
Best Practices for HTML Features with Hardware-Acceleration	. , ,
Content Restrictions for HTML5	. //
Guidelines for Creation of HTML5 Pages	. 70
Rendered Versions and Support	. 73
HTML5 for Touchscreens	79
Animations and Add-on Libraries	80
Vector Animations.	. 80
Bitmap Animations	. 80
CSS Transforms	. 80
Add-on Libraries	. 80
Network Latency Workaround.	. 80
Verify HTML Content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director	. 81
Rotated UHD Output	. 81
Rotated HD Output	. 81
Time Localization in JavaScript	. 81

• **1 | 1 • 1 | 1 •** CISCO •

About This Guide

This document serves as the main reference guide for creating content for the Cisco Vision Director solution. It is intended for our customers, the Cisco Vision technical marketing engineers, product managers, and creative services delivery team to prepare the graphics and content they want to deploy with Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

This section includes the following topics:

- Cisco Creative Services for Cisco Vision, page 7
- Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Documentation Go URL, page 7
- Document Revision History, page 8
- Document Organization, page 8
- Related Documentation and Resources, page 9

In the documentation for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, we changed the terms "master" to "lead, leader, or primary," the term "slave" to "secondary," the term "whitelist" to "allowlist," and the term "blacklist" to "blocklist." There are currently no changes to the product's syntax, so these terms are still present in the documentation where the current code requires their use. Where an industry standard exists, such as IEEE terminology, we cannot alter the term until the standards change.

Cisco Creative Services for Cisco Vision

The Cisco Vision solution combines high-definition video delivery with state-of-the art digital signage to deliver distinctive in-venue experiences. To help venues ensure the quality of their content and to achieve a high level of return on their investment, Cisco Systems offers Creative Services. This service provides a comprehensive content strategy designed to address the goals of both sponsors and advertisers and of the venue, with top-quality digital content created by our team of award-wining creative experts.

Several crucial factors contribute to the success of any digital signage deployment—not the least of which is the quality of the content. To sponsors and advertisers, the quality of the displayed content can significantly contribute to the effectiveness of their advertising campaign. To a venue, the quality of the displayed content can make an even greater contribution to their ability to generate incremental sponsorship revenue.

For more information, please contact the Cisco Creative Services team or your local Cisco Systems account representative.

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Documentation Go URL

For more information about Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director hardware and software installation, configuration, and operation, see the documentation available on Cisco.com at:

www.cisco.com/go/ciscovisiondocs

Document Revision History

Document Revision History

Table 1 lists the technical changes made to this document since it was first published.

Date	Change Summary
2021-08-03	Content revised to add new feature: Quad-region default template to Designer interface.
2021-06-24	Initial publication of Release 6.4.
2020-11-18	Added video offset control information and DMP register keys to enhance video wall performance and display. See Best Practices for Video Walls, page 42.
2020-10-28	Initial publication of Release 6.3.
2020-07-09	Made corrections to portrait rotation. See Flexible DMP Content Rotation, page 60. Added clarification on using Inbox to manage and control sites. See Automated Content Import to Library Inbox, page 61.
2019-07-26	Initial publication of Release 6.2.
2018-11-16	Updated information concerning X-frame options, memory utilization, and virtual memory and optimizations.
2018-09-06	Added notes to section Portrait Mode Auto-Rotation, page 67 to declare that when using video in portrait mode, scale the content only within the HD resolution limits. See Content Guidelines and Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 67.
2018-07-10	Initial publication of the Release 6.1. The following updates were made since Release 6.0:
	■ Daktronics Scoreboard Controller Integration now supports NFL [™] football

Table 1 Document Revision History

Document Organization

This guide includes the following modules:

Chapter	Description
Overview of Content Support	Defines content such as images, videos, external content (URL) and widgets that are supported by Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Release 6.3 software.
Overview of Content Deployment	Describes various pieces of the display and how to organize content for the best experience based on limitations of the venue.
Video Wall Planning	Describes how to deploy video content smoothly so each DMP has interesting, unique and engaging content.
Screen Template Specifications	Describes various types of screen template specifications such as full-screen video, full-screen graphics, 3-region L-wrapper, and full-screen dual video. Use a template or customize your own.
Content Guidelines and Specifications	Describes the guidelines on how to format, locate, design, and size your content exactly so it will display optimally.
HMTL Content Creation Guidelines	Describes general guidelines for creating HTML5 content for playback on the media players in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Related Documentation and Resources

Related Documentation and Resources

Release-Specific Documents

- Release Notes for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Release 6.4
- For the listing page of all Cisco Vision documentation, go to:

http://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/support/video/stadiumvision/tsd-products-support-series-home.html

Cisco Vision Documentation Notifications

You can receive periodic emails that summarize new and changed information in Cisco Vision documentation by subscribing to the sv-doc-notify@external.cisco.com email alias.

Contact us at ciscovisiondocs@external.cisco.com to request this notification service.

Cisco Vision Documentation Team Email Contact Information

Submit questions, suggestions, or other feedback to us at ciscovisiondocs@external.cisco.com.

Obtaining Cisco Product Documentation

For information on obtaining other Cisco Product documentation, see the monthly What's New in Cisco Product Documentation, which also lists all new and revised Cisco technical documentation, at:

http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/general/whatsnew/whatsnew.html

Subscribe to the What's New in Cisco Product Documentation as an RSS feed and set content to be delivered directly to your desktop using a reader application. The RSS feeds are a free service. Cisco currently supports RSS Version 2.0.

Related Documentation and Resources

·I|III|II CISCO

Overview of Content Support in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director provides both basic and more advanced methods of content ingestion to achieve high levels of visual impact at your venue. This module provides a high-level introduction to the content types and data sources supported in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Content is defined as any digital media that is presented on a TV display using a digital media player (DMP) in the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director solution. Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director supports a variety of content types and sources to create an impressive presentation of digital content at your venue.

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director is a very flexible content design and presentation system. It allows you to:

- Upload existing content
- Integrate external content or data
- Design content presentation using widgets and templates

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director supports three primary categories of content:

- Images (locally stored)
- Video (locally stored or streamed)
- External Content (variety of content forms and data integrations)

This module provides a summary of the types and sources of content supported in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director:

- Images, page 11
- Video, page 12
- External Content, page 12
- Widgets, page 17
- DMP Capabilities by Current Model, page 18

Images

Images are static graphic assets used for advertisements or informational messages that do not require motion. This could include Welcome messages for luxury suites or directional information after an event. They are also used as backgrounds for other content such as menu boards.

Images are uploaded to the content **Library** in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director and are stored locally on the media players when content is staged. Once the image is in the content library, it can be used in the graphic component of the Widgets tool or in a non-video template region. Images can also be used in a "Video or Mixed Media" template region.

Video

Images also can be uploaded as icons for assignment to channels in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director channel guides.

Note: Video, widgets, and external URLs are also scalable.

Note: Images in quad-region default template design are not supported.

Video

Video can be locally stored by upload to the content **Library** in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, or can be streamed from a variety of sources and display methods.

Note: For quad-region default template design, you can only use HD video content. Dolby Vision and HDR+10 are not supported.

Video streaming can be implemented through the following content sources and display methods:

Video streamed from the headend.

Video streamed from the headend can be in-house, terrestrial TV, satellite, or cable-provider feeds, which are typically multicast. The format of video provided from the headend is dependent upon the source.

For more details, see Cisco Vision Network, Server, and Video Headend Requirements Guide (available to qualified Cisco Vision partners).

Video locally stored in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Locally-stored video is an external video that is uploaded to the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director content library. It is stored in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director and played through a video or mixed-media playlist.

Video streamed to a local HDMI-In channel (HDMI-In Pass-Through).

Note: Local HDMI-In video is supported by the CV-UHD2, CV-UHD and SV-4K DMPs only, for HDCP-compliant devices and content. For best results, use maximum resolution of full HD (1920X1080X60p) on input to HDMI-In port for streaming.

Use the local HDMI-In channel when you want to easily send local content to a single TV display using the HDMI-In port of the DMP on a CV-UHD2, CV-UHD or SV-4K device. See Content Deployed From Local HDMI-In (HDMI-In Pass-Through), page 27.

DMP-encoded video streamed as a multicast channel for video only (no audio).

DMP-encoded video can be deployed from several sources:

- Full-screen DMP display output (including multiple template regions), also known as display encoding.
- External URL channel content (including HTTP, HTTPs, and HLS channels)
- Local HDMI-In channel content

External Content

External content includes a number of different forms of content and supported data integrations, from referenced external URLs and HTML pages, to data feeds and scoreboard controller integrations, among others.

- External URLs, page 13
- Data Integration Sources, page 15

External URLs

There are several ways to bring content from external URLs into Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director and for different reasons. Table 2 on page 13 summarizes these methods, why you might use them, and where to configure them.

Table 1 Summary of External URL Ingestion Methods

Ingestion Method	Why Use	Where Configure
Channels	 Display the entirety of content from a URL as a multicast channel to which other DMPs can be tuned. For HTTP, HTTPS, and HTTP Live Streaming (HLS) content, including full HTML pages. 	Configuration > Channel Definitions Configuration > Channel Guide
Data Integration	 For more advanced data customization, you can: Introduce a sample XML schema. Select certain data objects. Create custom mapping expressions for the output. Design custom content layout for the data using Widgets tool. See "Generic Data Sources" in Data Integration Sources, page 15. 	Configuration > Data Integration
HTML Pass-Through	 Simple HTML browser content (not full HTML pages) with restrictions. Content intended for more limited or short-term use. 	Library > External Content Right click > Create

Notes:

Use only external URLs that are compatible with an HTML I-frame.

When using external URLs, if you use a web page that constantly refreshes itself or a video, you will get updated information. Otherwise, there is no refresh from the DMP.

External URL content in quad-region default template design is not supported. You can only use HD video content from multicast video or a playlist.

Detect X-Frame-Options in External URLs

This enhancement checks if the external URL asset or external URL channel contains XFrame-Options in the HTTP header that prevents it from being rendered by the DMP. Test the URL and validate it for rendering its content on the DMP.

- 1. Click Configuration > Channel Definitions > Master Channel List tab.
- 2. Click Basics tab.
- 3. In Source Type drop-down menu, select: External URL. The Test button appears (Figure 1 on page 14).

Cha	nnel Definitiona				
Har	In Daniel M. Information		diam later from		
	tere		Street Type Distance (11		Unit is Chernel Guide
2	Altern .		Durertane 1976		(here
1	Search .		Deuterier		Texture
÷			18. web/229/1001206.0000.000000000000000000000000000	14	
H	The second second is		(tor		
	per union channel	1	Charrier Martine 112		
-	-		1 (rg harn-		
	Constant Sector		Start Party		
14	- 27mi		Source 1		1
	310F Trustee (000.4-11)		theme Office of the		

Figure 1 Testing External URL Content for X-Frame Option

- 4. Fill in the fields and click Save.
- 5. Click Test.

If X-Frame is present in the content, an error message appears.

External site may not render on the DMP Unable to test or connect to the URL	r
(Core	

The TEST function is also available whenever you create a new external URL connection.



If your external content is unlikely to render to the DMP, you get a caution symbol until you clear it (Figure 2 on page 14).

• Uploant Assess	Workpace					
 Inibox 						
★ Library	1175.8	TYPE	9/28	LAST MOOPED	DURATION	RESOLUTION
🖬 Imagina	Black and	(anapetting	13:02 18	2020-06-24 12:56	5.0	100041000
	But, hpt.org	eraphong.	146 48	2020-08-24-04-43	0.0	1000+1000
 Argeoli 	Exili, 2006, 3 Lege proj	trapepro	1.70.40	1000-06-09-08-43	191	1005+1180
O Wickpitts	Inthems Wat, Milerrig4	Automatica	13.43.585	2020-08-24/04/51	-16	192591080
	Lithem, New Jeastral	water, inget	20.13 Mil	2000-08-2416-08	16	1020-1007
La Liternete	 FS_mig1_1 arg 	- enapstying	0.0240	2020-05-13 13 12	0	0107w1100
O External Corport	 F0_inuj1_10 prg 	enapelprip	14.12.40	2020-08-13 13 17	1.0	1810w1080
	Its_mapl_larg	magetpro	12.5248	2122-15-1212-12	141	1925-1085
Charlester .	Histoph Ling :	- enaperong	11.05308	3920-08-13 13 13	1.8	1920-1002
 Posysta 	40_mapl_tage	anage ting	10.04408	2020-05-13 13.12	- 0	1020+1100
	75, map1, 5 pap	mapaging	19.29 48	3020-05-13 13:33	- 0	1820x1080
 Tags 	Viumet_Kerg	vegetorg	10.85 88	2020-05-13 1812		1820+1080
	PS_projf_7.prg	mapping	0.02 (0)	2020-05-13 13 12	2.9	7929(w1002
O reserved	FS_map1_karg	(anaprijeg	12.7.88	2220-05-13 13.12	0.0	19025v11002
mai_img	T5_img1_9.pig	maphony	12.76.839	2020-05-131233	-0:	1900x1000
Tarra (and	V9_TerretEntors, CommittiPark repl	when the second	17(0.66)	1020-08-25 01:30	19	2820x1080
mail analy	Hepter_M_11	10000110	201.01.149	3220-05-13 13 18	1.75	3840x2180
	lingua_40_2 m		218.42.68	2020-05-12 13.17	103	3840x2192
Applying 3	Time_Counter_5_Mouses_1000bins	ordero the	70.76 MB	2020-08-13 12:19	309	9.620×1080
versiel2	UPLOAD_CMD_Test_FD_Terrelitorists.mpd	unactive?	201100	2020-06-25-02:07	1.18.	1920v1080

Figure 2 Caution Symbol Indicating this Content will Not Render as Desired

External URLs as Channels

External URL is a channel source type that allows you to specify an HTTP, HTTPS, or HTTP Live Streaming (HLS) source as a channel, including HTML page sources. Use an external URL as a channel when you do not need synchronization of content, but you would like to be able to tune to that content from a script, User Control API, IP phone (with IP Phone integration software), or IR remote. External URL channels also can be streamed to a DMP-encoded multicast channel, but do not support audio when streamed in that form.

HLS sources are hardware-accelerated on the DMP. The content is specified as an External URL source type in the Channels setup. The system recognizes the content as an HLS source based on the Allowed HLS file formats designated in the **System Configuration**. The default extensions allowed are m3u and m3u8.

IMPORTANT: For External URLs as channels to stay at the **bottom layer**, make sure that video layers are ordered at the **bottom** of the list of layers on the template editor using the **Designer** tool. This assumes that the display specification for the DMP has dmp.layerOrderMode uses the default, or **VideoOnBottom** value. For detailed information about the new layering options, see Dual Video Screen Templates-Enhancements, page 60.

For more information, see Channel Content Deployment, page 25.

Note: You cannot use external URLs in quad-region default template design. You can only use HD video content from multicast video or a playlist.

HTML Pass-Through

When you select **Library** > **External Content**, then right click > **Create** to specify the external URL, an external URL asset is created in the content **Library**. When referencing an external URL in this way, you can render simple HTML browser content (with some restrictions) on the media players, by including the external URL object in a playlist and scheduling it in a script. Figure 3 on page 15 shows creating new external content URLs.

Note: Use only external URLs that are compatible with an HTML I-frame.

Figure 3 Referencing an External URL to Content



Although the External Content URL is referenced in the content **Library**, the content itself is not actually stored in the content **Library** in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. Any changes to the content on the external site page are dynamically updated on the media players when the external URL is referenced, such as when the external URL playlist item is played.

Data Integration Sources

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director predefines some data structures for ease of integration with the system. Configure these sources with **Configuration > Data Integration** in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. Use **Designer > Widgets** to design layouts. For details, see Cisco Vision Director Data Integration Guide.

- Content Feeds
 - Atom Feed
 - RSS Feed (RSS 2.0)

A ticker is a region that displays content received from an RSS feed (news, weather, or other dynamic information) over a customizable background. RSS feeds can come from external or internal sources. Venue Operators can use RSS feeds to publish their own in-house promotions or other proprietary messaging.

- NFL Content
 - National Football League (NFL) Game Statistics and Information System (GSIS) Cumulative Statistics
 - NFL GSIS Game Clock
- Scoreboard Controllers
 - Daktronics All Sport 5000 Scoreboard Controller (basketball, NFL™ football, and hockey only)
 - OES ISC9000 Intelligent Scoreboard Controller (basketball and hockey only)
- POS (Point-of-Sale) Data Sources
 - Generic POS
 - Internal Database POS
 - Menu Theme
- Generic Data Sources

Generic data sources can be used for other forms of XML or JavaScript Object Notation (JSON) sources that you want to ingest into Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director whose format does not conform to some of the standard out-of-the-box data source types, such as RSS 2.0.

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director also can support Generic Data Sources in JSON or XML format from the following source types:

- Database–Supports automatic translation of MySQL and SQLServer database formats to XML data in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director
- FTP
- HTTP/HTTPS
- TCP
- UDP
- Table Lookup

The Table Lookup feature for data integration allows users to create multiple tables, each having multiple key-value mappings. Users can upload tables from a TSV file or create tables and mappings from the Cisco Vision Director UI. Once tables are created, a custom XPath function can be defined to look up values from these tables for specified keys.

The Table Lookup feature for data integration supports the following primary use cases:

- Custom Suite Welcome Messages
- Images in the Asset Library folders (such as local locations)
- Local weather information

Widgets

Widgets

Widgets are content objects for external data. Use **Designer > Widgets** (Figure 4 on page 17) to create a widget used to map real-time statistics or content from external data sources for output display in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Figure 4 Designer Widget Interface

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director		AUmur 🔻 🗄 👗
Webgers Noreslates		
+ - / # /		8
Narre -	Reaclusion	1
El testi vetitpet 8A.	1900x1080	
1238	1%20x1080	
1224-sopy1	1920x1660	1
Upprote grante; how:	Vi20x1040	
1Lingrade_graphs_stastiniting	1 szow toko	
Thipgrade_graphic_rotation	1920x1080	
1t/approde_graphs_source	1920x1090	
Npgrade_Instanta_basic	1920x1090	
Nagrade_endWea_dataSource	1320x1080	
10pgrade_mox/eea_roupon	1920x1080	
tuggade_leidfofusees_daubinding	19pbx1080	
Happedez_all	1920x1080	
Npgradest_chira_baschirg	1920y1080	
Rappinout_state_pullOnce	Vi20y1080	

The Widgets tool includes image-based and text-based components and a tabular list component to help you design the layout of external data (Figure 5 on page 17).

Figure 5 Widget Designer

As content assets, widgets are stored in the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director **Library** once published from the **Widgets** tool. Use the standard template, playlist, and script configuration elements to deploy the widget.

Note: Widget content is not scalable. For details, see Cisco Vision Director Data Integration Guide.

Note: Widgets in quad-region default template design are not supported.

DMP Capabilities by Current Model

DMP Capabilities by Current Model

To date, we offer the following DMPs:

 Series 2: DMP 2K and SV-4K Series 3: CV-HD and CV-UHD Series 4: CV-HD2 and CV-UHD2

Table 2 on page 18 shows a highlight of the available features, capabilities or restrictions for each DMP model.

Table 2	Current DMPs	by Feature and	Content Capability
---------	--------------	----------------	---------------------------

	Series 2		Series 3		Series 4		
Features	DMP 2K	SV-4K	CV-HD	CV-UHD	CV-HD2	CV-UHD2	
Video Streaming Capable	Yes	Yes	1 X HD	1 x UHD + 1 x HD	1 X UHD	2 X UHD	
Audio Streaming Capable (Audio only)	No	No	No	No	No	No	
Video File Size (Release 5.0 and later)	4GB	4GB	4GB	4GB	4GB	4GB	
Dual Video ¹ with Luma Key (applied to secondary HD video region over an HD or UHD video in the primary region)	Single Video Only	Yes	Single Video Only	Yes	Single Video Only	Yes	
HD Video Wall Support	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
HTML5 Performance	Entry	Entry	Entry	Great	Good	Excellent	
Low Live Video Latency	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Synchronized Playback	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
RS-232	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
PoE Requirement ²	30W	30W	PoE 15W	Dynamic 15W/30W	PoE 15W	Dynamic 15W/30W	
Storage	53 GB	100 GB	128 GB	128 GB	64 GB	128 GB	
USB Ports	1 X A	1 X A	1 X A	1 X A, 1 X C	1 X A	1 X A, 1 X C	
HDMI-CEC Port	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
HDMI-In Streaming ³ (with port) Maximum resolution: full HD (1920X1080X60p input)	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	
Advanced Video & Graphics	No	UHD Video and HTML	No	UHD Video and HTML	No	Dolby Vision, HDR10, UHD HTML	
Content Orientation (portrait/landscape)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Portrait ⁴ Content Support ⁵	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Scaling Content: multicast and local video ⁶	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Scaling Content to Fit: Scale down large co	Scaling Content to Fit: Scale down large content and keep the correct aspect ratio. If your image or widget resolution is smaller than the region, the content resolution will not scale up.						

DMP Capabilities by Current Model

	Series 2 Series 3			Series 4			
Features	DMP 2K	SV-4K	CV-HD	CV-UHD	CV-HD2	CV-UHD2	
Scaling Content to Fill: Videos and external URLs only scale to fill the region.							
UHD Video EncodingNoH265NoH265NoH265							
Quad-Template	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	

Table 2 Current DMPs by Feature and Content Capability

1. Dual UHD resolution video regions is not supported.

2. Performance is throttled and peripheral power is disabled at lower power.

3. Videos with UHD resolution are not supported for HDMI-In streaming.

- 4. We do not recommend streaming rotated (portrait) video. Instead, rotate local content when creating it.
- 5. When using video in portrait mode, do not scale the video beyond the full HD resolution. Match the aspect ratio of the video relative to the screen region, for non-UHD video. Use portrait HD video content (1080x1920) at 60p.

6. Multi-screen template stretching generally is not currently supported. **Notes:**

- The DMPs only support HD/SD content and do not support UHD resolution video streaming.
- To place video over graphics (graphics in the middle), use dmp.layerOrderMode. See Dual Video Screen Templates-Enhancements, page 60.
- Content scaling works with multicast video and local video, static graphics, widgets, and external URLs.
- The Screen Template editor in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director presents all region sizes based on an HD 1920x1080 canvas size. Do not configure templates based on the ultra HD size of 3840x2160 when using a UHD display.
- For Release 6.3, GPIO port is available for external content.
- If using quad-region template design, a new local control API controls channel changing and audio control. Only one region can play audio at any time.

DMP Capabilities by Current Model

•••|•••|•• CISCO

Overview of Content Deployment in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

Before you begin to deploy content at your venue, it is important that you understand all of the requirements for the types and methods of content that you want to deploy.

There are limitations and specifications for the content size and formats supported by Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. These vary depending upon a number of factors including the TV display resolution, the media player used in the venue, the screen template region layout, and the TV proximity to the fans.

Note: For a full range of content planning and design services available from Cisco Systems, contact the Cisco Creative Services team.

Workflow Summary for Content Deployment

Table 1 on page 21 gives an example of what a workflow plan might look like.

Table 1 Content Deployment Plan

Content Deployment Task	For more information see
Plan the type of content that you want to create.	Overview of Content Support in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 11.
Plan how you want to deploy and control the content.	Channel Content Deployment, page 25.
Plan where the content will be deployed.	Zones, Groups, and Locations, page 22.
Understand the content guidelines and best practices.	Content Guidelines and Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 67.
Plan and create the screen template and region sizes for your content.	Screen Template Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 51.
Create your content and get it into Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.	Overview of Content Support in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 11.
Create a playlist for your content (as needed).	Playlists, page 24.
Create a script to define when your content is displayed (as needed).	Scripts, page 24.

Overview of Configuration Objects for Content Deployment

Overview of Configuration Objects for Content Deployment

Table 2 on page 22 provides a simple description of the different configuration objects in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director that are used for content deployment.

Configuration Object	Think of it as	Purpose
Zone/Group/Location	<i>Where</i> content is displayed	Determines on which DMPs to display the content.
Template	<i>Way</i> content is displayed	Determines the layout of content on a DMP display.
Playlist	What content is displayed	Determines the order of content items to be displayed in a template region.
Script	When content is displayed	Determines the timeline during an event for which content is displayed in what area of the venue.

Table 2 Summary of Configuration Objects for Content Deployment

Zones, Groups, and Locations

Digital content, in the form of still or animated graphics and video ad insertions, can be targeted and delivered-with accompanying event video-to any display or group of displays throughout the venue.

When you have hundreds or thousands of TVs on which you want to display different video signage, sponsored content, TV channels, and menus, you need a way to automate the configuration and manage the endpoint locations.

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director defines a hierarchical architecture of Groups, Zones, and Locations that allows you to easily identify the location of the displays and manage the content that they are playing.

Zones

A *zone* is typically a physical area in the venue. Concourses, clubs, and team stores are examples. Groups and zones allow you to apply attributes to a number of screens with a single action. They simplify the control of advertisements in sponsored areas of the venue, enabling all the screens in a sponsored zone to have the same branded messages, the same playlists, and the same video content.

Group and zone associations can be made any time prior to pushing an event script and can be used for multiple events.

Groups

A *group* defines a collection of devices (DMPs/TVs) that all display the same content, using the same template. Groups are the second level in the hierarchy and are subsets of a zone. Groups contain a set of locations in the hierarchy.

To understand the use of groups, consider the TVs in a concourse area on which you want to show a game feed with sponsored advertising. Rather than configure each individual TV to show this content, you can configure them as a group and change all of the TVs with a single action. The group is associated to a zone to identify the area of the venue where the TVs are located.

Locations

Locations are the lowest level in the hierarchy. A *location* is a subset of a group that defines a specific place in the venue where a TV and DMP reside. After DMPs are deployed, they must be linked to Locations to change their state to "Ready" so that you can stage content to the DMP.

Locations help you keep track of exactly where a TV and DMP is physically located in the venue. For example, if someone tells you that a TV in a restroom at the concourse 100 level is not working, you can refer to the location information to quickly find the TV and fix it.

Overview of Configuration Objects for Content Deployment

Note: Be careful not to confuse the *civic location* on Cisco Catalyst switches with the DMP Location in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Figure 1 on page 23 shows an example of a nested hierarchy, with naming conventions that help describe the area and use of a group of devices.

Figure 1 Zone, Group, and Location Example



In Figure 1 on page 23, a zone named "Concourse" is at the top level, with a group named "100_con_game_wrap" that is part of the "Concourse" zone. As indicated by the name of the group, this is for all of the TV displays using the game wrap format (from a screen template) in Concourse 100 of the venue. A location named "100_con_N_01" indicates that the TV-1 and DMP-1 are located on the North Concourse 100 level.

Best Practices for Groups and Zones

- The more groups and zones you have, the more complicated the deployment becomes. Plan carefully.
- Logically group unique advertising areas, concessions, and exit directions to reduce operational complexity.
- While it is possible for a zone to have different screen templates throughout the course of an event, the more screen templates you use, the more complex the deployment and administration becomes. To simplify the system management, limit the number of screen templates for a given zone.

For more information about guidelines for zones and groups, see the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Operations Guide, Release 6.4.

Templates

Templates are not technically part of the device hierarchy. However, screen templates are an important concept to understand within the group-zone hierarchy because they are assigned to groups and zones to define the format of the TV displays within them. Screen templates define how a particular TV display is divided into regions to show different arrangements of video, signage, and advertising.

Note: Every device belonging to the same group will display the same template as shown in Figure 2 on page 24.

Figure 1 on page 23 shows that a screen template named "Lwrap" is associated with the TV display in location "100_con_N_01," which is part of the "100_con_grame_wrap" device group. This example shows only one location, but if there were many locations within the group, the same template would apply to all of those TV displays.

Overview of Configuration Objects for Content Deployment

Bud Club 200425 100 Level Concourse

Figure 2Zones, Groups, and Locations and Screen Template Association

Playlists

For most content to appear, it has to be put into a *playlist*. A playlist is a series of content items (static images, video, widgets, external URLs) that are grouped together to display in sequential order (one after the other) for a set duration and repeat. The playlist is associated with and appears in a given area of the screen called a *region*. Regions are defined by the screen template.

Each playlist runs independently of other playlists and multiple playlists can be run in any given event script in separate regions.

Playlists are defined by the type of content that they contain–either static images only (Non Video), or video/other content types (Video or Mixed Media). A playlist that is configured as "Video or Mixed Media" can contain both video and static images, as well as other content types.

One of the most common uses of a playlist is in a screen template region where a series of advertisements cycle based upon a preset rotation. Playlists also can include tickers and full screen messages, among a number of other types of content.

Figure 3 on page 24 shows an example of a playlist that contains five static images that will each display for a set duration in Region 2 of the screen template.

Figure 3 Playlist Example of Static Images for Display in Template Region 2



Note: Playlists become part of an event script. Stage, or pre-load, event scripts to the DMPs prior to the event from the **Script Management** screen.

Scripts

Event scripts and event states control *when* certain content displays on the TV screens in a venue over the course of an event (Figure 4 on page 25).

Figure 4 Script Management

Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director	8 0 0 8 4 5 0		Atomas v 🗉 🛦
form Napy			numer free 121222294/07
Suthfully inverses	TestOffsetScript Values Persentat T Separation Persent	Adhiar A hefter	Mouse over to see Play icon

You create event scripts and event states ahead of an event, allowing you to predetermine what will display at a given time and location on each screen in the venue. Prior to the event, stage and validate the script. Make necessary adjustments so everything displays correctly.

Run the script at the scheduled event time. Initiate the script manually or automatically. Once the script is running, use the many features of Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director to further manage the ads, content, graphics, and video displayed throughout the course of the event.

Figure 5 on page 25 shows an example of the progression of a script through different stages of the event. At each change in the event state (Pre-Game, In-Game, Post-Game) the screen template and content applied to the TV displays changes within the group and/or zone.



Figure 5 Example of the Progression of an Event Script

Channel Content Deployment

This section includes the following topics:

- Overview of Channel Sources, page 26
- Content Deployed From Local HDMI-In (HDMI-In Pass-Through), page 27
- Video Streaming Methods, page 28

Overview of Channel Sources

Table 3 on page 26 provides a list of the types of content that can be used as channel sources in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Release 6.3 and later. It also summarizes where you can control that content as a channel source.

Channel Source	Audio/	Sync	HDCP	١	Where Can Co	ontrol as a	Channel	
Туре	Video	Across DMPs	Compliance Required	Device Management UI	IP Phone with Integration	IR Remote	Script Action	User Control API
External URL: HLS, HTTP or HTTPs	Both	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
HDMI-In	Both	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Video Stream: DMP-encoded	Video only ¹	Yes	n/a	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes
Video Stream: Multicast (UDP, RTP)	Both	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Video Stream: Unicast (UDP, RTP)	Both	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 3 Channel Support Summary

1. All DMP-encoded video stream channels support video only when Display Streaming is used. When *HDMI-In streaming* is used for a DMP-encoded video stream using a local HDMI-In channel source, both audio and video are supported.

Notes:

- Channel sources on second video region will not play audio, in general.
- Use only external URLs that can be embedded in an I-frame. To test the X-Frame option in the external content, see Detect X-Frame-Options in External URLs, page 13.
- In quad-region default template design, images, widget text overlays, and external URLs are not supported.
- The quad-region default template does not support Dolby Vision or HDR10 content. Use a local control API for the audio volume and channel changing,

See the Cisco Vision Operations Guide for detailed information on how to use the new feature.

DMP-Created Channel Sources

 Table 4 on page 26 provides a list of DMP-created channel sources in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Release

 6.3.

 Table 4
 DMP-Created Channel Source

Channel Source Type	Audio/ Video	Sync Across DMPs	HDCP Compliance Required	Where DMP Control
Channel 0, Local Display	Yes	Yes	Yes	Configuration > Channel Definition
HDMI Streaming	Yes	Yes	Yes	Configuration > Channel Definition
Display Streaming	Yes	Yes	Yes	Configuration > Channel Definition

Content Deployed From Local HDMI-In (HDMI-In Pass-Through)

Note: Local HDMI-In content is supported by the SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 DMPs only.

Local HDMI-In support is simplified, where DMP encoding of the local HDMI-In port is automatically set up in the system as a default channel (Channel 0). This means that all you have to do is plug an HDCP-compliant device into the HDMI-In port on an SV-4K, CV-UHD, or CV-UHD2 digital media player and it automatically plays content on Channel 0 in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director (Figure 6 on page 27). You can tune to the channel from a script, User Control API, IP phone, or IR remote.

Use the local HDMI-In channel when you want to easily send local content to a single TV display using the HDMI-In port of the DMP on an SV-4K, CV-UHD, or CV-UHD2 DMP. The primary use case for HDMI-In pass-through is for sharing of presentations or external video source that you want to display on the one TV to which the source is connected.

Figure 6 Local HDMI-In Pass-Through to Single TV Display



When you are playing content through the DMP HDMI-In port, the content is "always on" on Channel 0, much like any other streamed channel on a TV. To stop playing the content, stop it on the source device connected to the DMP or tune to a different channel in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. If you are tuning to the channel by script, change states or stop the script.

Streaming Options for Local HDMI-In to Multiple DMPs

The local HDMI-In channel is intended for a single-content source to be shown on a single TV display.

To distribute the local HDMI-In content to multiple DMPs in the system, use one of two streaming methods summarized in Table 5 on page 27. Both streaming methods require configuration of a DMP-encoded video stream channel to which the encoded video is sent and where other DMPs can be tuned. See also Video Streaming Methods, page 28.

Table 5 Streaming Options for an HDMI-In Channel Source

Streaming Method	Audio/Video Support	Sync Across	Where Invoke as a Video Stream
HDMI-In Streaming (Encoding of HDMI-In source only)	Audio and Video	Yes	 Device Management¹ IP phone (w/integration) IR remote
			Script actionUser Control API
Display Streaming (Encoding)	Video only	Yes	 Device Management¹ Script action User Control API

1. Controlling starting and stopping of streaming from the Device Management interface is intended for testing only.

Video Streaming Methods

This section includes the following topics:

- Display Streaming, page 28
- HDMI-In Streaming, page 29

Display Streaming

Display streaming renders a full-screen display (including multiple template regions) as a multicast stream *without audio*. You can control display streaming by the new **Start Display Streaming/Stop Display Streaming** script state actions, from the User Control API, or **Script Management** interface. Remember, use **Stop Display Streaming/Start Display Streaming** when you change source devices, such as from laptop A to laptop B.

Note: Display Streaming supports *video only* (no audio). However, if you want to stream DMP-encoded HDMI-In channel content only, then both audio and video are available. If you use *HDMI-In Streaming* rather than Display Streaming as a script state action applied on the designated video stream channel.

Use a DMP-encoded video stream channel with display streaming to do the following with your content:

- Broadcast full-screen output from a DMP display to multiple other DMPs in the system.
- Support DMP-to-DMP synchronization (non-video wall).
- Display video only (without audio).

Figure 7 on page 28 shows an example of an HTML page configured in the system as an External URL channel and streamed to a DMP-encoded Video Stream multicast channel using display streaming.

Note: Use only external URLs that do not set the X-Frame Options header. To test the X-Frame option in the external content, see Detect X-Frame-Options in External URLs, page 13.





Summary Workflow

1. Configure an External URL channel with the URL of the content that you want to stream.

Note: The system will determine an HTTP Live Stream (HLS) based on the file extension in the URL.

2. Configure a Video Stream channel with DMP encoding enabled (Figure 8 on page 29).

	Figure 8	Enabling	DMP	Encoding
--	----------	----------	-----	----------

Charged Defensions			
Read () and () .	1		
1.1.1.1	A Design for	La Contraction	
a here	Anna iga ane-man-	- Used to Descript Usedan	
5 - 101A-0	Discontinues, pages,		
10 100		Total & Second and Barrier	
We determine the	description	740 500	
	AND INCOME INCOME.		
F Services			
the factory	C Distance		
a land the second	NUMBER OF TAXABLE PARTY AND A DESCRIPTION OF TAXABLE PARTY.		
of the second case.	man and an end of the second second second		
The second data life	Second States in the second states of the second st	Marine (
0.0	And a second sec		
1.5	dial anno		
	Contraction of the second seco		_

3. Create a group containing only the DMP to be used for the encoding of the URL (Figure 9 on page 29).

Figure 9	Creating	a	Group
----------	----------	---	-------

Chasa Vision Dynamic S	synaliger Devector	w.U.4	10 N N 10	10.1	na + 1 A
Zanes & Ground					
the second secon					
Constant Constant					
	C. Rose was particular		- (Sector) (1997)	ra menter (1) has serve	
Anna have descenter	- Longitude - Consta - Samuel	the loss of \$	Name Produced Mill name	in matches fighting	manager House In-
and prove the second se	THE PERMIT	And Little	The Did to Day and the Party of	And and an other states of the state	and the second second
Segurate .		-			
10,000	1.1	1.4			
Children of Childr	14 4	1.1			
APPer La Contra	3 1				
313.01.04.04.00	1.1	1.0			
* BOURDHUNDER	1 4				
1 AGE (MARCH)	14 (1)	1.0			
ALM/REALIST	1 A		6		
Marine and M					
6	4				
BLACK, MUNICH	1 4	0			
10-10-10-01-0	1.1				
1997 (Sec.)	(1 F)				
Tarried .	24				
100 mail	1 1				

- 4. Create a script and select a video template as an action for the DMP Group in Step 3. on page 29.
- 5. Assign the External URL channel to the video region.
- 6. Select the Start Display Streaming action and choose the DMP encoded channel that you set up.

HDMI-In Streaming

Note: Local HDMI-In content is supported by the SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 DMPs only.

When combined with use of a DMP-encoded video stream channel, you also can choose to broadcast a local HDMI-In channel to a DMP-encoded channel for availability of the content to other DMPs in the system.

Note: HDMI-In streaming is only supported for content sourced by the HDMI-In port on the SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2.

Figure 10 on page 30 shows an example of streaming content to a DMP-encoded video stream channel from a device connected to the DMP HDMI-In port.





Summary Workflow

1. Connect an HDCP-compliant content source to the HDMI-In port on the DMP (the encoding DMP).

Note: Because the HDMI-In port has an internal, universal identifier representing the local HDMI-In of the device, the encoding DMP must be in its own Group in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

- 2. Configure the destination Video Stream channel where the HDMI-In content will be streamed (*never* Channel 0). This must be a DMP-encoded video stream channel.
- 3. Create a group containing only the DMP to be used for the encoding of the URL.
- 4. Create a script and select a video template as an action for the DMP Group in Step 3. on page 30.
- 5. Select the Start HDMI-In Streaming (encoding) action and choose the DMP-encoded video channel that you set up in 2. on page 30.
- 6. To receive (decode) the stream on other DMPs in the system, tune to the DMP-encoded channel.

Restrictions for HDMI-In Streaming

The HDMI-In port on the digital media player can only be supported either as a source to video region or source to encoder as a channel, *but not both*.

Therefore, if you want to connect a TV display to the DMP encoder's HDMI-Out port, while also doing HDMI-In streaming from that DMP, you cannot tune that TV to Channel HDMI-In (Figure 11 on page 31).

Figure 11 Unsupported DMP Encoder Configuration for HDMI-In Streaming



Workaround:

You can connect a TV display to that DMP encoder, as long as it is tuned to the DMP-encoded video stream channel and not Channel HDMI-In (Figure 12 on page 31).



Figure 12 Supported DMP Encoder Configuration with TV Display for HDMI-In Streaming

Note: For HDMI-In streaming, the maximum resolution you can use is full HD (1920 X 1080 X 60p) for the input port to HDMI-In. Otherwise, your HDMI-In may not produce the desired result (clear, full screen).

Unicast Streaming

Note: Multicast state change deployments are the *recommended* best practice.

Unicast streaming cover cases where Cisco Vision Director cannot reach a DMP via multicast. Use unicast streaming in situations where there may be DMPs outside the main venue, or located and configured in such a way that you cannot use multicast routing. Unicast state change DMPs do not have the full feature set that multicast offers.

The following are some limitations with unicast state change messages:

- DMPs using unicast state change messages will not synchronize state changes, either with other unicast state change DMPs, or with DMPs using multicast state change messages. This lack of screen to screen synchronization may affect all content types.
- Unicast state change messages do not solve any other required use of multicast in the system, including the following:
 - Multicast video streams
 - Zone-based video wall synchronization communication between DMPs relies on multicast communication between the DMPs within a video wall.
 - PTP use of multicast communication
 - Multicast updates of external data sources through the data integration feature, in combination with a widget.
 As a workaround, configure a data binding component within widgets that use the data integration feature.

To set up unicasting to a DMP:

1. Click Configuration > Devices > Locations & DMPs tab (Figure 13 on page 32).

Figure 13 Choose the Device to Unicast

Deiversi									
Longitude & 197		othe (Mr Neat	a 175-0	CONTRACTOR OF	Physics Security	-			
$\Psi_{i} = \{ P_{i} \}$	#10	1191 m.					- A.	their companying	
See	Anna -	(P. Andrews	and another	dama tare links	nie without	100	inne I		
Services.	1000	-		prof Contract	C. CALCULA	the server		Aura pres	
TRP-sense 1	1000			devel.	100	wetter.		designed and the second s	
Information .	indiana.			- 71-41	- 10	The Real Property lies		and the second se	
addition of					-	-			
	10000			11.00	1.00	0.000		And Advert	
INF LOUGH	100.000			74-07	1.00	201000		Linese W	
100-000				(+-m)	-	0.000			
States 1				CHEKC	1.00	42.010		Contract (1999)	
NF same	-			41.44	100	Aug Tabala		Incase from the second second	
Sec.				10.00		the baseline		and the liter we	
144-14-00				- 51-90	-	0.000		Date for the second	
1491,049	148-211	- ma, here so, 12.		(and	- 100	10000		I della man	
Mr. same	10000	100.000.0012		11-16	100	-to-childrening		the same in the	
Mr. Lower	10010-1			71-41		Section 1		Hardware Direction	
Station and street	100-10			(1-40)		10.000			
Intraductory (1000000	00.00.00		21-02	1.00	10.0 00.000			

Select a specific device from your list and click the Edit icon. The Edit selection dialog box appears (Figure 14 on page 32).

Figure 14 Selecting Unicast Option for a Specific DMP

Felt survey as	
Sale Contractor	14
New 200	
provide a second	
Protection (1) (1) (1)	
and desired more in the local di-	
Darton (2 to (2 to	
mails on Se	
Paper Ser Second Street	
International Contraction	
and handled () and (0) in	

- 3. Click Yes for Unicast Only for your device.
- 4. Fill in the rest of your fields and click Save.

State Delay-A Workaround

DMPs using unicast state change messages will not synchronize their state changes with other DMPs, either those using unicast state change DMPs, or with DMPs using multicast state changes.

One possible workaround is for the system to delay the implementation of state changes, to try to allow the system to communicate to all unicast DMPs.

Note: This procedure is intended solely as a workaround for those experiencing synchronization issues due to unicast state change messages. Do not enable state delay unless you specifically experience such synchronization issues. Be aware of the caveats as listed above.

To set the unicast registry in DSD for the device:

- 1. Click Configuration > System Configuration > Advanced Registry Settings.
- 2. Click Add (+) (Figure 15 on page 33). The Create Configuration Setting dialog box appears.

Figure 15 Adding Registry

Claco Vision Dynamic Signage I	Needor.		simon + ± k
System Configuration			
a la farante farage (anter formar (f		- K.a	
· · ·		Pre	78.0
Exception of the property		Barrette	10.764 T21.079400
		- Angles Transis	-
	Territoria	(A)	
		seriation .	1
		Apple Concession in the Concession of Conces	A.
	weller	1	
Contracting the program in the second		Addressing and the second seco	1
Contraction of Contract		the tare free	
	1.1	trans(A)	a protecting (part) have
		particula.	man provide and the second second second
		1962/15	100, 210 02111 122940-100
		Addressed .	1
		terranale Trees	1
		Notice .	
		Nullin manifestion in the	mail philips had been been been much

- 3. In the Name field, type script.stateChange.nextStateDelay.
- 4. In the Value field, type n, where n is the number of seconds to delay state changes by.
- 5. Click Save.

State Delay Caveats

- State delay effects all DMPs in the system: DMPs using unicast and DMPs using multicast state change messages.
- State delay will cause all state changes to be delayed by that time, making it more difficult to make quick changes to the state.
- State delay is "best effort." There is no guarantee that the value chosen above will achieve synchronization of state change messages, given the network and system conditions.

Do not make state changes while the state change is pending; unpredictable results may occur.

•••|•••|•• CISCO

Video Wall Planning in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

This module describes information about how to plan deployment of video content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. It includes the following topics:

- Video Walls, page 35
- Dual Video, page 35
- Video Synchronization, page 36
- Macroblocking, page 36
- Multicast Video Scaling, page 37
- Supported Video and Audio Formats, page 37
- Static Graphic Formats, page 40
- Event States and Event Scripts, page 41
- Guidelines for Event States and Event Scripts, page 41
- Guidelines for Video, page 42
- Best Practices for Video Walls, page 42
- Video Wall Requirements, page 45
- Prerequisites for Video Walls, page 45
- Restrictions for Video Walls, page 47
- Video Wall Design Examples, page 47

Video Walls

A video wall is a group of displays that show synchronized content and convey a single, much larger screen. Cisco Vision Director supports different video wall design methods depending on the type of media player controlling the video wall. A common use for video walls is to vary the video wall layout and content over the course of an event.

Dual Video

Dual video regions allow you to overlay two video regions–a secondary local or multicast video region and a primary video region. The dual video template provides the following capabilities:

Shows two video feeds at the same time

Video Synchronization

- Places video-based advertisements
- Promotes a moment of exclusivity during an event
- Applies luminance (luma) keying to the secondary video region

Video Synchronization

For display of synchronized local content (video or images) in your video wall, daisy-chain the DMPs. To support different types of content on each display in the video wall, such as four different TV channels, use a direct connection per TV display.

In this cabling method for local video synchronization, a single media player is connected to each TV display in the video wall using the HDMI Out and RS-232 connections, see Figure 1 on page 36. It can be used for video walls playing local video that do not rely on the tile matrix capabilities of the TV.



Figure 1 Cabling Video Wall with One DMP Per TV Display

With this architecture, you can develop content at 3840 x 2160 resolution. Then, divide your video into four 1920 x 1080 pieces for synchronized playback. This method will use the maximum resolution for each display giving you the highest possible quality for your presentation.

Macroblocking

Macroblocking is a video artifact where areas of a video image appear as small blocks or squares. Video content that contains large IFrames can cause macroblocking during playback on DMPs, as shown in Figure 2 on page 37.
Multicast Video Scaling

Figure 2 Macroblocking Video Content Example



Using constant bit rate (CBR) video is a requirement, adhere closely to the content guidelines to reduce the issue. If you are using the Adobe Creative Cloud video encoding tool, you might have to use the special settings to work around a problem with non-standard H.264 support. The rendition settings include using VBR as detailed below.

Note: Please pay special attention to the Key Frame Distance setting below.

Render Settings

- VBR, 1 pass
- Target: 10 Mbps
- Max: 12 Mbps
- Key Frame Distance: 9

For more information, see the Release Notes for 6.4 Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Multicast Video Scaling

Multicast video scaling means many video monitors can display formatted (scaled) content simultaneously. It is intended for use with video walls and allows scaling of a multicast video region across a video wall display for both portrait and landscape orientation.

Note: Content scaling works on multicast video and local video, as well as external URLs and HTML.

Supported Video and Audio Formats

The tables below define the supported video and audio formats for full-screen video stored locally on the media players and played through a video playlist.

Note: For best performance, we recommend constant bit rate (CBR) for local video playback on the media players. Variable bit rate (VBR) will also work but synchronized video playback could be compromised.

Note: Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director supports UHD/HD video content with UHD resolution (local and streaming video) on the DMPs. Graphics with UHD resolution are not supported. DMP-2K media players only support HD/SD content.

Note: We do not recommended using UHD video within an HTML Frame. Doing so could cause undesired performance implications.

Supported Video and Audio Formats

Format	SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 DMPs
Models	 HD/SD is supported. Video content with UHD resolution is supported only on the SV-4K, CV-UHD and CV-UHD2 players. Refer to for UHD video content specifications. MPEG-2 TS (transport stream) required for seamless looping of video files MPEG-4 Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director supports: .mpg, .mpeg, .mp4, .m2t, .m2ts, and .ts file types. .mp4 is recommended to reduce black frames. H.264 Specifications: Support for Main or High Profiles up to Level 4.2, AAC audio, CBR audio (VBR is not supported). H.265 for CV-HD2 and CV-UHD2.
HDR/HDR10 and Dolby Vision	Only the CV-UHD2 DMPs.
Video Resolution	Max supported resolution: 3840x2160X60p
Aspect Ratio	Widescreen 16:9 (1.0 square pixels)
Field Order	Progressive
UDP Multicast and File-Based Video	Codec: H.264 Encapsulation: MPEG2-TS or MPEG-4
Video Bit Rate Encoding	Recommend 30-40 Mbps constant bit rate. Note that a second video recorder can simultaneously support a second 1080p video at up to 40 Mbps.
Max Bit Rate	AC3: 640 kbps MP2 audio: 384 kbps
Audio Streaming	Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director does not support streaming audio, for example audio-only tracks.
Local Audio Sample Rates	48kHz

Table 1 Supported Video/Audio Formats for Localized Files for the SV-4K (UHD), CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 DMPs

Supported Video and Audio Formats

Format	SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2
Models	Only video content with UHD resolution is supported.
	MPEG-4 highly recommended. Other formats have not been tested.
Video Resolution	3840x2160x60p
Color Depth	UHD video can be encoded at 4:2:0 subsampling with 8 bits (Main Profile) or 10 bits (Main 10 Profile) of depth.
Main Profile	If your display components support HDMI 2.0, you can display a UHD video at 60p; encode the file using the Main 10 profile (10 bits of color depth with 4:2:0 chroma sampling) at level 5.1. If your display components do not support HDMI 2.0, you can display a UHD video at a max of 30p (with 8 bits color depth). Use a Main profile at level 5.0
HDR/HDR10 and Dolby Vision	Only the CV-UHD2 DMPs.
Video Encoding	H.265 High Efficiency Video Coding (HEVC). H.265 version 1 profiles only–Main and Main 10.
Video Encode Bit Rate	2000 to 25000 Kbps
Bitrate	CBR between 30 and 40 Mbps. Note that the second video decoder can simultaneously support a 1080p video at up to 40 Mbps.
Max Streaming Bit Rate (with HDMI-In Encoding)	We recommend two times the video encode bit rate. DMP encoding can be up 60 fps at 720p, or up to 30 fps at 1080p.

 Table 2
 Supported UHD Resolution Video Formats for the SV-4K, CV-UHD, CV-UHD2

Table 3 Supported Color Depths for UHD Video

Resolution	8bit	10bit	12bit
4Kp24 4Kp25 4Kp30	4:4:4 (RGB)	4:4:4 (RGB)	4:4:4 (RGB)
4Kp50 4Kp60	4:4:4 (RGB) 4:2:0	4:2:0	4:2:2 4:2:0

Table 4	Supported Video/Audio Formats for Loc	alized Files for DMP-2K,	CV-HD, and CV-HD2 DMPs
---------	---------------------------------------	--------------------------	------------------------

Models	DMP-2K, CV-HD, and CV-HD2 DMPs
Format	HD/SD is supported. MPEG-2 TS (transport stream) MPEG-4 Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director supports: .mpg, .mpeg, .mp4, .m2t, .m2ts, and .ts file types. mp4 is recommended to reduce black frames. H.264 Specifications: Support for Main or High Profiles up to level 4.2, AAC audio, CBR audio (VBR is not supported).
UHD (SDR) Video	CV-HD2 only
Video Resolution	1920x1080
Aspect Ratio	Widescreen 16:9 (1.0 square pixels)
Field Order	Progressive

Static Graphic Formats

Models	DMP-2K, CV-HD, and CV-HD2 DMPs
UDP Multicast and File-Based Video	Codec: H.264 Encapsulation: MPEG2-TS or MPEG-4
Video Bit Rate	Recommend 30-40 Mbps constant bit rate. Note that a second video recorder can simultaneously support a second 1080p video at up to 40 Mbps.
Audio Streaming	Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director does not support streaming audio, for example audio-only tracks.
Local Audio Sample Rates	48 kHz

Table 4 Subbulled Video/Addio Formals for Localized Files for DiviP-2N, GV-FiD, and GV-FiD2 DiviP	Table 4	Supported Video/Audio Formats for L	Localized Files for DMP-2K.	CV-HD, and CV-HD2 DMPs
---	---------	-------------------------------------	-----------------------------	------------------------

Note: Test the devices that you plan to connect to the HDMI-In port to stream content for support of HDCP. Most Mac OS and Windows laptops should work for HDMI-In video encoding for non-copy-protected content. It is up to the device manufacturer and OS whether or not HDCP pass-through is supported.

Static Graphic Formats

Static graphics are used for advertisements or informational messages that do not require motion. This could include Welcome messages for luxury suites or directional information after an event. Static graphics are stored locally on the media players. Table 5 on page 40_lists the allowable formats for static graphics.

Note: Content scaling is supported for .png files, widgets, external URL content, and external URL channels. Content is scaled down so it will not bleed over the region sides. Aspect ratio is maintained for .png files and widgets. External URL (content and channel) will fill the region.

Graphic Format	DMP-2K, SV-4K, CV-HD, CV-UHD, CV-HD2, and CV-UHD2
JPEG, non-progressive, 8-bit RGB CMYK, and grayscale.	Yes
JPEG duotone	Not supported
JPEG, progressive	Yes
PNG	Yes 8, 16, 24, and 32-bit (24-bit with 8-bit transparency) recommended
Image Resolution	Max supported resolution: 2048x1280x32bpp (for 4K/UHD players). For non-4K/UHD players, use images that are no more than 1920x1080.

Table 5 Static Graphic Formats

Guidelines For Static Graphics

- Best practice: upload files in batches of 100 files or fewer. The total file size must be less than 100 MB.
- For vertical content in Release 5.0 and earlier, graphics and video are not auto-rotated by the DMPs. Create them in a vertical format and then rotate them 90 degrees for a vertical screen. From Release 6.0 and later, vertical content can be rotated at the DMP.
- DMPs can be configured (using the dmp.portrait parameter in Display Specifications) to automatically rotate content for proper orientation on vertically-positioned displays. See Content Orientation, page 67.
- Content file names can have "-" and "_", but not space(s) and other special characters.

Event States and Event Scripts

Content scaling is supported for static graphics, widgets, local and multicast video, external URLs, and channels (multicast video and external URLs).

Event States and Event Scripts

Event states and event scripts control when and what content displays over the course of an event. For example, a Welcome message for Pre-game, a food promotion at halftime and an Exit message at the end of the game. An event state is a period of time in which the group of screens will exhibit the same behavior (e.g., the same screen template, playlists and channel). Event states can change over the course of time (Pre-Game, In-Game, Post-game, etc.).

Guidelines for Event States and Event Scripts

Consider the following guidelines when creating event states and event scripts:

- Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director displays the default video channel / non-event state on the media players when an event script is not running on it.
- When you use Proof of Play (PoP) content in your playlist, and especially when your PoP content is included near or up to the end of the playlist, define a final script state (without any PoP content) that runs for at least 60 seconds so that all PoP data has time to be captured by Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. This last event state is commonly set up to turn off the displays in the venue.
- When you configure a script action for a zone, by default, all groups within that zone inherit the defined action. You can override this inheritance by configuring a script action for a particular group within that zone.
- When a zone contains multiple groups, and if you configure script actions for a particular group, those actions will apply only to that group.
- Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director supports only one RS-232 command per event state.

Table 6 on page 42 describes some guidelines for general script support in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Note: While these limits have been tested with basic Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director operation, the combination of maximum values and complexity of your system and content can potentially impact the actual limit. Test your script content for expected behavior before using in production.

Guidelines for Video

Script Guideline	Mini/Small	Standard	Large
Max number of simultaneous scripts (when per-script multicast is in use)	50	200	500
Max number of event states per script	12	25	25
Max number of items per event script	300	1200	1200
Max number of scripts	50	200	500
Max number of simultaneously running scripts	5	100	250
Maximum number of templates in different groups/zones for a script state	12	50	50

Guidelines for Video

Consider the following guidelines for deployment of video content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director:

- Video files can range in size. Release 5.0 and later releases support a maximum 4 GB file size.
- Be sure that your video content meets the requirements described in Supported Video and Audio Formats, page 37.
- Test the devices that you plan to connect to the SV-4K, CV-UHD, or CV-UHD2 HDMI-In port to stream content for support of HDCP. Most Mac OS and Windows laptops should work for HDMI-In video encoding for non-copy-protected content. The device manufacturer and OS determine whether or not this is supported.
- Generally speaking, stretching a piece of content across multiple screens is not supported. However, scaling of multicast video is supported. See Automated Content Import to Library Inbox, page 69.
- For dual video playback on the CV-UHD2 DMP, the secondary video should not contain audio.
- The audio track for any local video content should be sampled at 48 kHz.
- All local video content must include an audio PID (even if silent, without an audio source present).
- Use progressive video modes instead of interlaced to achieve optimal video display.
- For frameless external HTML browser content, the videos will likely render at the lowest layer. We do not recommend rendering video content on the external HTML.

Note: Content scaling while keeping the same aspect ratio is supported for static graphics, widgets, local and multicast video, external URLs, and channels (multicast video and external URLs).

Best Practices for Video Walls

When implementing video walls, consider the following best practices:

- Use the same media player model (all CV-UHDs, or all CV-UHD2s, and so on) throughout the video wall.
- Use the same TV model throughout the video wall with a uniform bezel size (ultra narrow bezel strongly recommended).

Note: TV screens with an ultra narrow bezel help ensure the best viewing experience without important text or data being cut in half.

Best Practices for Video Walls

- While using multicast videos for both video regions is supported, we recommended using a combination of multicast and locally-stored videos for the video regions (or local video for both video regions).
- Create video to be the same size as the video region where it will be rendered. This avoids any unnecessary video scaling.
- Use consistent video aspect ratio.
- Design video regions so that they are consistent with the aspect ratio of video content.
- For best performance of local video playback on the media players, use Constant Bit Rate (CBR). Variable Bit Rate (VBR) will also work but synchronized video playback could be compromised.
- Whenever possible, a PTP TTL of 1 provides better sync for file-based video content.

Video Offset Control for Video Walls

To generate your best looking video wall displays, it's important to set the offset control value. These improvements compensate for the TV painting/scanning process and may be especially useful for fast-moving video.

To set the video offset control value:

- 1. Go to **Configuration > Groups & Zones**.
- 2. Click Group <->Zone.
- 3. Click + Add or Edit. The dialog box appears (Figure 3 on page 43).

Figure 3 New Group or Edit Group Dialog Boxes

New Group	36	Edit Group	
Alarte	30e	Name Testilicost	1
Description		Desurgation	
Video Officet (D-250 mgl. ()		Water Calmer (0-150 mu) 25	
Carcel: 0(Cancel Sam	

4. Calculate the Video Offset value.

The general formula is:

 $(row - 1) \times (1/fps) \times 1000 = n$ milliseconds

2X2 Video Wall

- Total wall resolution: 3840 X 2160
- Each TV videomode: 1920 X 1080 X 60p
- Row 1: delay 0 ms
- Row 2: delay = 17 ms

Two display parameters also enhance your video wall outcomes: **dmp.vsynchDomain** and **dmp.pcr.mode**. Setting dmp.pcr.mode=1 turns the functionality on. When coupled with enhanced sync, it will use the PCR to control vsync for streaming video walls. Setting dmp.pcr.mode=0 will use PTP to control vsync for file-based video walls.

Best Practices for Video Walls

- The PCR mode setting is received from the Display Specification information (i.e., from deviceMibs.json). When no PCR mode property is in the json file, it is assumed to be disabled.
- When enhanced PCR handling is enabled, both primary and secondary regions that use video stream as source will enable the new PCR handling behavior. The PCR attributes will only be applied to streaming video, if the video source is over UDP, RTP, or RTSP (only if currently supported by the runtime).
- File-based content will not have the PCR attributes in the video HTML element.

Note: These Display Parameters only work with DMP firmware version 8.2 or higher.

Setting dmp.vsyncDomain Key

Set the key dmp.vsyncDomain for all the DMPs in the video wall with the same value (Figure 4 on page 44).

To set the values for the DMPs:

- 1. Click Configuration > Devices > Display Specifications > Display Parameters.
- 2. Select the device from the left panel and scroll to dmp.vsyncDomain. Select it.
- 3. Click Edit and the Edit Configuration Setting dialog box appears. Type in the value.
- 4. Click Save. Repeat for every device in the video wall using the exact same value.

Figure 4 Set Value for dmp.vsyncDomain Key for DMPs in Video Wall

Caury Vision Dy	namic 5ig	nage Director	a (2		A Trans + I A
Destruit	natur (AP 16	erre Pitere	Las Carel Dates		
	111111				
 Consequence Conseque	11111	An anna An anna An anna An anna An Anna	Angewar Landolff Wei Landolff (1999) Stranding (1999) Angewarting Angewarting Manageman	ine ine inte Microsoft Victorian Victorian Victorian Victorian	

Video Wall Requirements

Setting dmp.pcr.mode Key

Set the key dmp.pcr.mode for all the DMPs in the video wall with the same value (Figure 5 on page 45).

To set the values for the D MPs:

- 1. Click Configuration > Devices > Display Specifications > Display Parameters.
- 2. Select the device from the left panel and scroll to dmp.pcr.mode. Select it.
- 3. Click Edit and the Edit Configuration Setting dialog box appears. Change the value to 1.
- 4. Click Save. Repeat for every device in the video wall.

Figure 5 Set Value for dmp.pcr.mode Key for DMPs in the Video Wall

11	Claco Vision Di	marris Sec	nikāt Ekrector		W 0.	0 = 11 11 0	warms a g A
	Devices						
	THE MARK COMPANY		any Cheve		Interformer - Deposit	The other states and the states and	
	1-86				Sal Ite		
•	Data Sections	1.000	in an	1	514		
-	Annual Contract of the	- Augusta	Alternationer.		Trans Income	To Read Table	
•	Carlos and Street and	1.000	Concession in the local division of the loca				
	mphasice, pagesped	40				the lasting the	
	Laps to AL 1912	Angen -	4140,000		and the second s		
	might fly kit, but	1.000	ALC: NO. 100		(Figure 1)	100	
	integrate fun spinis time	- Property	10112-010-024		444		
	version of	-	-		and the second s	The Lord gradue	
	40.049.0	-	1-1-0-1		mannestary	-mail and a second seco	
	Target and y	terminely.	40011		matteriolation	104	
÷.	inchestered.	100	100.00	L.	manufacture (191	See (
	101 (101 - 101 - 1	1.046	101-100-	Ľ	and the state of t	lar.	
	doute bring	1.044	and appendix			100	
	Second Amount	1.000	dia argumat		meter bard	had a stight -	
	broods entropy	1.64	10. PR01		any press.	the location of	
	any of a survey	i Ama	with spinoresis		and other the second se	No Galleria	
	Loton 2000	Andrew 1	1004	1	the loss to service to the service of the service o	Name and Address of Concession, Name of Street, or other	
	Sec. 11100	in the second	4110-0		The part of the local division of the local		
				_			

Video Wall Requirements

- DMPs in a video wall must be on the same VLAN and connected to the same access switch. PTP is also required.
- To achieve best synchronization with multicast video, the streamed video must conform to ISO-3818-1, using the current state of the DMP firmware, any 2 DMPs can be +/- 1 frame off.

Prerequisites for Video Walls

Before you deploy video walls and create the content for them, meet the following conditions:

To play local video or image content in a video wall:

- 1. Create the overall format of the video wall.
- 2. Edit the content into separate 1920x1080 files that contain the segment of content to be shown on each display.

For example, in a 2x2 video wall (4 screens), the original content should be in 3840x2160 format (that is, 2 times 1920x1080).

3. Break the content into (in this example, four) individual files of 1920x1080 format to show the appropriate portion of the content for the 4-screen display.

Prerequisites for Video Walls

For DMP content synchronization:

- Each media player must be in its own group.
- For each region, the playlists must have the same number of items, type of item, and duration of each item, or have no playlist at all in the region (empty).

Table 7 on page 46 shows an example of playlist content for a 2x2 video wall with a mix of local video and image content. Notice that all first items in each of the four playlists are of the same type (PNGs), with the same duration, but the content itself is not the same. Likewise, the second item in each playlist is video content with the same duration, but different files.

Table 72x2 Video Wall Playlist Example for the CV-UHD2, CV-UHD, or SV-4K

Content Item	Playlist 1	Playlist 2	Playlist 3	Playlist 4
1	30s: PNG 1-1	30s: PNG 1-2	30s: PNG 1-3	30s: PNG 1-4
2	34s: MP4 2-1	34s: MP4 2-2	34s: MP4 2-3	34s: MP4 2-4
3	21s: MP4 3-1	21s: MP4 3-2	21s: MP4 3-3	21s: MP4 3-4

- Trim local video item duration to boundaries in seconds and not fractions of seconds.

Note: If your imported video content duration is in fractions of seconds, then the content screen shows the actual item duration for the video. However, the system actually rounds that content duration for the playlist to even time boundaries (in seconds). Also, if you manually change the item duration within the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director UI, the content playback will be truncated.

For zone-based video wall synchronization:

- Put each media player in its own group.
- Collectively, place the groups that are part of the video wall in a zone.
- Select the "Use as Video Wall" checkbox when you create the zone for the DMP groups.
- Click Configuration > System Configuration > Global DMP Settings > Default Audio/Video/Closed Caption.
- Set the Value of Zone Based Video Wall Synchronization to "true". If necessary, click the Edit icon. The Edit Configuration Setting dialog box appears.

Restrictions for Video Walls

 Casco Vision Dynamic Signage I 	Mector	H G 0 H	M 3- 0	Arrest 4 12
System Configuration				
· Blann have been been been in	T	a a 🖸		
Contraction in the second second		Configuration migrants	(Webum	
- 10 second	_	property of the state of the same	Autoritation .	
Chemical Association (Dame		August could depict to the same	20210	
Discontinues a		(the table inc.	Wattins.	
(2 decise Latera 4	- 11	programme and provide		
(C. (wenter Present)	- 11	Frank, part (ref.	140	
(), (America (America)	- 11	Linese,	and the second s	
12 term feasing	- 10	Name on other area in strend over		
(3 Mininger and Challing		Town over Arrest	1014 ATTS	
C rune econt	1.1	Chever safety surrows	WOLLEY.	
 In fail the province for the prior 	- 16	Disease and a straight	1010, 4747 -	
· · ·	- 11	Network and the second department	100	
w in Mathanian Lennar, 11.	- 10	Indian state managements		
- Bernstein and Life		First South Careford Summarian	10.0	
· In Survey Casto (1)	11	Name of America	-	
- Martin Cause (second 1)				

Figure 6	Zone-Based	Video Wall	Synchronization
----------	------------	------------	-----------------

Restrictions for Video Walls

Before you create video walls, consider the following restrictions:

- All screens in the video wall should use 1920 x 1080 format.
- Widgets, external URLs, and multicast video tuning synchronization are supported by the DMP-to-DMP content synchronization feature.
- When using zone-based content synchronization for video walls, one device controls synchronization. If that device stops showing video, then all displays in the video wall stop showing content.

Note: Due to limitations in display technologies (where lines are scanned/displayed from left-to-right, top-to-bottom), a 2x2 video wall with fast motion may show out of sync, regardless of video source (multicast or file-based). The visual out-of-sync becomes more evident as the number of rows in the wall increase. A 1xn video wall, where objects move across the screens, is less susceptible to the TV display's scan behavior.

Video Wall Design Examples

This section provides examples of some of the more common and currently deployed video wall designs in Cisco Vision Director venues.

TIP: Be sure to consult with the video wall experts from the Cisco Creative Services team for any of your video wall ideas, including non-standard configurations. This team can help you with ideas, best practices, and wiring diagrams to ensure a successful deployment.

TV-Based Tile Matrix Video Wall Example

Figure 7 on page 48 shows a video wall commonly used in a concourse area, with a larger game feed for groups of patrons to watch, along with rotating sponsor content displayed beside the game. This wall is actually a 2X2 and a 1X1.

Video Wall Design Examples

Figure 7 2x3 Video Wall Content Example



A 2x3 video wall is the most common video wall that Cisco recommends because in the left 2x2 group of displays, the game feed maintains the proper 16:9 aspect ratio of the HD game feed.

The right 2x1 group of displays can work independently from the game feed and show sponsor, social, or other content throughout the game. The user also can change the type of content that plays during the game. For example, during half-time or period break, when there is no game feed, the user can switch the 2x2 to play full screen sponsor content, while changing the 2x1 to show upcoming events or team branded content so that there are not any sponsor conflicts.

Figure 8 on page 48 shows the cabling for the video wall example, where two Cisco DMPs are used to break the wall into different display areas.

The first DMP provides the 2x2 game feed and the second DMP provides the 2x1 sponsor ads.



Figure 8 Video Wall Cabling Example Using TV Tile Matrix Functionality

These dedicated DMPs provide the video signal for the group of TVs that the DMP is connected to through the daisy-chain. Depending on the screen manufacturer, the RS- 232 connections can also be daisy-chained if this feature is available.

When operating in tile matrix mode, the TVs are fed the same video signal. Based on the TV's tile matrix configuration, the TV knows to first scale input video to the size of the configured x,y dimensions, and then to display its "piece" of the overall display based on its configured position within the matrix.

Note: If you want to show multiple types of content, such as four different channels on each of the screens, connect a Cisco DMP behind each TV.

Other Video Wall Configurations

While the 2x3 video wall is the most commonly used video wall configuration, using the information and concepts for the video wall examples, you can create any number of different video wall configurations.

Video Wall Design Examples

Figure 9 4x4 Video Wall Example



Figure 10 3x5 Video Wall Example



Figure 11 2x7 Video Wall Example



Video Wall Design Examples

Screen Template Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

This chapter defines the screen templates supported by Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. Use a default screen template or create your own custom template.

Default Screen Templates

The following templates are standard in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. The standard templates can be identified by the lock icon that appears next to the template name. The default screen templates make it easy to create event scripts.

- 3-Region Lwrapper
- Full Screen Dual Video
- Full Screen NonVideo
- Full Screen Video
- Quad Template

Cisco Systems, Inc. www.cisco.com

Default Screen Template Dimensions

Figure 1 on page 52 shows the 3-region Lwrapper template.



Figure 1 Default Templates in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

Default Screen Template Dimensions

The dimensions for the default screen templates are fixed and cannot be changed.

Alternatively, you can create custom screen templates (where you specify different sizes for the screen template regions) and overlay screen templates (where you have a non-video or video region overlapping a video or mixed media region).

Table 1 on page 53 defines the default screen templates that are included in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Note: Obsolete templates (such as 3-Region, 3-Region double, Emergency, Exit, Outside Emergency, Welcome) might still appear in your system if you have upgraded from earlier releases. Installing a full ISO image will remove previously available templates.

Note: For dual video playback on the CV-UHD2 DMP, the secondary video should not contain audio.

Default Screen Template Dimensions

Template Name	Content Type	Dimensions	Region Layout
Full Screen Video	Video Mixed Media	1920x1080	video
Full Screen Non-Video	Static Image	1920x1080	graphics

Table 1 Default Screen Template Summary

Default Screen Template Dimensions

Template Name	Content Type	Dimensions	Region Layout
3-Region Lwrapper (Also known as just "Lwrapper.")	 Video (Live video or replay; Mixed media in Region 1) Advertisements (Playlist of advertisements in Region 2) Ticker (Feed of scores or news in Region 3) 	 Video: 1624x914 Ads: 296x914 Ticker: 1920x166 	video ads ticker
Full Screen Dual Video	Video in each region. Using a luma key on the video in region 2 (the top-layer video region), you can enable select areas of video content in region 1 to be visible through the video in region 2. Note: A luma key on UHD video is not supported. However, an HD video in the secondary region can use a luma key over a UHD video in the primary region. The Full Screen Dual Video template is available.	Video 1 (bottom video): 1920x1080 Video 2 (top video): 1920x1080	video video
Quad Template	 Fixed 2x2 template on each screen, taking up the entire screen in four, equal parts. No adjustable template/positioning, z-layer ordering or overlap. No luma key support. Each region can play HD video or a playlist only. One quadrant of audio at a time is supported; select the active audio via local control API only. 	Video 1 (top left region): 1920x1080 Video 2 (top right region): 1920x1080 Video 3 (bottom left region): 1920x1080 Video 4(bottom right region): 1920x1080	Video Video Video

Table 1 Default Screen Template Summary (continued)

Template Resolutions

Template Resolutions

The default Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director screen template size is 1920x1080.

General Guidelines for All Screen Templates

When creating screen templates and populating content, consider the following guidelines:

- Templates are ordered by name.
- For Proof of Play, you can have more than one region with an ad playlist.
- Regions are listed from top-to-bottom layer order, where the top layer appears at the top of the list.
- Layers are numbered, if a screen template contains a non-video region and a video or mixed media region, the video or mixed media region always appears at the bottom of the list.

Note: You can manually drag a video region to be on top of other regions; however, the rendering of the regions below the video region will not be predictable and can be completely invisible.

- A box icon adds a non-video region.
- A film icon adds a video or mixed media region.
- Switching a non-video region to a video region might produce a warning if there is already an existing video region.
- Saving an existing template with regions removed will produce a force dialog for confirmation. In addition, when a template that is used in an event script is edited (including when one is adding a region) a force dialog appears for confirmation. You should also edit the scripts that use the changed template to verify that the added or removed regions contain the appropriate content and changes occur as expected.

Note: The SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 media players support HD/SD and video content with UHD resolution. Graphics with UHD resolution are not supported. The DMPs only support HD/SD content and do not support UHD video streaming. Review the list of supported content in the Overview of Content Support in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 11.

Full Screen Default Templates

Use the full-screen templates that come with Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director to display full-screen video (or mixed media), or full-screen graphics. Figure 2 on page 56 shows an example of a video (or mixed media) in the full screen template. Figure 3 on page 56 shows an example of a graphic in the full screen template. Both are fixed screen templates and cannot be customized.

Full Screen Default Templates

Figure 2 Full Screen Video (or Mixed Media) Template Example



Table 2 Full Screen Video or Mixed Media Template Dimensions

Content Type	Dimensions
Full Screen Video or Mixed Media	Region 1: 1920x1080

Figure 3 Full Screen Graphic Template Example



Table 3 Full Screen Graphic Template Dimensions

Content Type	Dimensions
Full Screen Graphic	Region 1: 1920x1080

3-Region Lwrapper Default Template

3-Region Lwrapper Default Template

Figure 4 on page 57 shows the region numbering for the 3-Region Lwrapper default template. Table 4 on page 57 describes the characteristics of each region. This is a fixed screen template and cannot be customized.

Figure 4 Region Numbering and Layout of a 3-Region Lwrapper Template



Table 4 3-Region Lwrapper Region Template Dimensions

Region	Content Type	Dimensions	Description
1	Video or Mixed Media	1624x914	 16:9 aspect ratio. Supports live video broadcasts or video replay. For more details on video formats, refer to the Cisco Vision Network, Server, and Video Headend Requirements Guide for your release (available to qualified Cisco Vision partners).
2	Non-Video	296x914	 Supports playlists of advertisements. Due to the small dimensions of Region 2, use graphic-intensive ads rather than ads that have a lot of small text in this region.
3	Non-Video	1920x166	 Designed for displaying a graphic and/or information in the form of a ticker. The ticker content can be from a compatible RSS feed approved by the venue. The ticker region can be customized with the venue logo (with the ticker content playing in the remaining space).

Figure 5 on page 58 shows an example of content in the 3-Region Lwrapper template.



Figure 5 3-Region Lwrapper Template

Full Screen Dual Video Default Template

A full-screen dual video default template is available for the DMPs. Dual video regions allow you to overlay two video regions—a secondary local or multicast video region and a primary video region.

The dual video template provides the following capabilities:

- Show two video feeds at the same time.
- Place video-based advertisements.
- Promote a moment of exclusivity during an event.
- Apply luminance (luma) keying to the secondary video region.

Note: Do not apply a luma key to video content with UHD resolution on the SV-4K, CV-UHD, or CV-UHD2 digital media player. Luma keying is only supported for dual video when an HD video in the secondary region uses a luma key over a UHD video in the primary region.

Table 5 on page 59 lists the specifications of dual video regions.

Region	pecification	
Video 1	 Can be controlled using an infrared remote (IR) remote or local control. 	
	In the template, video region 1 appears as the bottom or primary layer.	
	 Supports audio. 	
	 Source: Local or multicast video. 	
Video 2	 Cannot be controlled through an IR remote or local control. 	
	In the template, video region 2 fully overlaps video region 1.	
	 Luminance (luma) keying is applied to second video region (it cannot be disabled or changed in the template). It cannot be applied on UHD content. 	
	Does not play audio.	
	Source: Local or multicast video.	

Table 5 Full Screen Dual Video Template Specifications

Note: The luma key default is set to #ff2000. To enable luma keying, scroll down the Properties panel and click the checkbox (Figure 6 on page 59).

Figure 6 Full Screen Dual Video Enable Luma Keying



To change the global luma key value:

Click Configuration > System Configuration > Global DMP Settings > Default - Audio/Video/Closed Caption.

For additional information on luma keying, refer to the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Operations Guide.

Guidelines for Dual Video Screen Templates

When using the dual video template for the media players, consider the following:

- A combination of up to full-HD (1920x1080) at either 30 or 60 fps for local video and multicast video are hardware-accelerated.
- Using multicast videos for both video regions is supported; we recommend using a combination of multicast and locally stored videos for the video regions.

- Place video regions below any non-video content for consistent playback and performance.
- Match the template region aspect ratio with the aspect ratio of the video content that will play in that region.
- If the secondary video region is not displaying, verify that there are no staging errors, that the secondary region is not behind the primary region, and the resolution does not exceed 1920x1080.
- In the dual video template, the secondary region (video 2) will appear above the primary region (video 1). Using luma keying on video region 2, you can enable select areas of video region 1 content to be visible through video region 2. To change the order of the dual video regions, copy the locked template to create a custom template and change the order accordingly.
- Do no apply a luma key to video content with UHD resolution on the SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 media player. Luma keying is only supported for dual video when an HD video in the secondary region uses a luma key over a UHD video in the primary region.

Dual Video Screen Templates-Enhancements

New in Release 6.3, you can set up the video / HTML layer order of a DMP display by using a new display specification: dmp.layerOrderMode.

Previously, the video layers would **always** render on the bottom of the stacking order on the DMP display, regardless of the stacked order in the template (Figure 7 on page 60). You could achieve effects by transparencies and sizing, but video could not be overlaid.



Figure 7 Default Layer Order–Single Video On the Bottom

There are three settings for dmp.layerOrderMode. By using this new display parameter, you can achieve the following:

- VideoOnBottom (same as existing behavior, Figure 7 on page 60)
- GraphicsInMiddle (Figure 8 on page 61)
- VideoOnTop (Figure 9 on page 61)

For a use case such as a menu in HTML5 with video background showing a video overlay content during a Moment of Exclusivity, use GraphicsInMiddle (Figure 8 on page 61).



Set VideoOnTop when you need the secondary region to always be on top of the primary region, regardless of region layer order. Videos will always be above non-video layers (Figure 9 on page 61).





Figure 10 on page 61 shows a graphic representation of single video behavior.





Figure 11 on page 62 shows a graphic representation of dual video behavior.





Note: Use when you want HTML content below primary/secondary regions. Diagnostics, StartWebApp, Guide, TV Banner and PIN may not be visible.

Figure 12 on page 62 shows a graphic representation of dual video with graphics in the middle layers.





Layering Content–What is Not Supported

We do not recommend doing the following when designing your content displays:

- Video in between two non-video content layers, such as when using a URL channel.
- Secondary video below a primary video when using VideoOnTop. The runtime will force the primary video to be below the secondary video.
- Swapping layer order of two video regions across different script states. This may have unpredictable results.
- Template regions do not match layer order. This may have unpredictable results.

IMPORTANT: Here is the current caveat to using this new display parameter:

The template layering must be consistent with the layer mode. For example, once VideoOnTop is set for a DMP, the video layer will *always* be on top, even if the *template* has the video layer on the bottom. Therefore, carefully design your display templates and content if you intend to use this new capability.

Quad Template

The following is an example process using GraphicsInMiddle. Make sure the template used in the script has the regions layered properly (Video/non-Video/Video).

To set the Display Parameter allowing new video layering:

- 1. Click Configuration > Devices > Display Specifications > Display Parameters.
- 2. Select the DMP in the left panel.
- 3. Type layer in the Search field on the right. The dmp.layerOrderMode displays in the list.
- 4. Click Edit (pencil icon). The Edit Display Parameter dialog box appears (Figure 13 on page 63).
- 5. In the Configured Status field, type GraphicsInMiddle.
- 6. Click Save.

Figure 13	Configuring	dmp.layerOrderMode	Display Parameter

integrand install	and the		
-			

7. Reboot the DMP to get the new configuration to appear on screen.

Quad Template

Release 6.4 SP1 introduces a four-region video streaming feature. This feature is available **only** on the CV-UHD2 and CV-UHD DMPs. The quad default template splits the screen into four, equal 16:9 video quadrants/regions. The top left area is Region 1, the top right area is Region 2, the bottom left area is Region 3, and the bottom right area is Region 4. When you click into a region, the Layer information highlights (Figure 14 on page 63). All these regions use local control for the audio volume and channel changing, so this feature works best in a more private area, such as a luxury suite.



Figure 14 Quad Template for Four Video Regions

See Quad-Region Template Specifications, page 75 the for the quad-region template specifications.

Custom Screen Templates

Custom Screen Templates

In addition to using the standard templates that come with Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, you can also create your own custom or overlay template.

Custom screen templates allow you to change the size and arrangements of the regions on the screen to fit the sponsor/venue needs. See Figure 15 on page 64 for an example.

Figure 15 Custom Template Example



Guidelines for Custom Screen Templates

Consider the following guidelines when creating custom screen templates:

- Regions can contain non-video content (static graphics), video, or a combination of both (in a mixed media region).
- Up to 5 regions are supported for each screen template-more than 5 may cause degradation. Results may vary depending on what type of non-video content is used. For example, a very simple widget may not cause degradation but a very complex widget could.
- A custom template can contain up to two video regions.
 - Dual UHD video regions on the SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 are not supported.
 - Using luma keying on video content in Region 2, you can enable select areas of video Region 1 content to be visible through video Region 2 (see Figure 6 on page 59).
 - Change the order of the video regions by changing their relative layer order in the template.
- When layering regions, the non-video content (graphics, widgets, etc.) will always appear according to how you set the display specification: dmp.layerOrderMode. See Dual Video Screen Templates-Enhancements, page 60.

Note: When layering two video/mixed media regions, if the playlist for the first video/mixed media region includes both video and non-video content, the non-video content in the first region will always appear **on top** of the video in the second video region. To alter this, see Dual Video Screen Templates-Enhancements, page 60.

TIP: If you must include non-video content in Region 1, create a local video of the static content and use that in the playlist so that it remains in the primary region.

- To optimize performance, the video and graphic aspect ratio sizes should match the aspect ratio of the region. Multi-screen template stretching generally is not currently supported. However, multicast video and local video scaling is supported on all digital media players.
- All regions must fit within the 1920x1080 dimensions. If you are using an overlay, then you can have two regions that are both 1920x1080.

Custom Overlay Screen Templates

Note: The DMPs support negotiation to many resolutions. However, when the negotiated resolution is less than 1920x1080, the template will crop to that lower resolution.

Table 6 on page 65 provides the number of content regions you can have when creating custom templates.

 Table 6
 Number of Allowed Regions When Creating Custom Templates

Region Type	SV-4K, CV-UHD, CV-UHD2	DMP 2K, CV-HD and CV-HD2
Non-Video Graphic	0 or more	0 or more
Video Region 1 or Mixed Media	Up to One	Up to One
Video Region 2 or Mixed Media	Up to One	Not Supported

Custom Overlay Screen Templates

Overlay screen templates are custom templates that allow a non-video region (graphics) to overlap a video (or mixed media) region on the media players. You also can create a custom screen template with dual video regions (or you can use the default full-screen dual video template).

The screen overlay feature can be assigned to any region. Using the overlay feature you can display:

- A full-screen video (or mixed media) region with a full-screen non-video (graphic) content region overlaid on top.
- A brand/graphic overlaid in a small region of the screen.
- A ghosted brand/graphic such as a transparent logo where some of the colors in the logo are transparent and others are not.

Note: When creating an overlay screen template that has a primary video and a non-video region on top, be sure that the image is designed to fit on the canvas. If the image is placed off the canvas, only part of the image will appear.

Guidelines for Graphics in Overlay Screen Templates

- Use 8-bit or 24-bit PNG (transparent pixels supported) file format.
- Make the pixels transparent in the .PNG for the full-size video region.
- Do not use .JPG files because they do not preserve transparency.

Note: Graphics always overlay video. You cannot place video over graphics unless you use dmp.layerOrderMode. See Dual Video Screen Templates-Enhancements, page 60.

Custom Overlay Screen Templates

· I | I · I | I · I CISCO

Content Guidelines and Specifications for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

Before you import content, verify:

- Content is in the correct format
- Content is the appropriate size
- Content has the correct dimensions for where it will be displayed.

If the content is not the correct size for the Cisco Vision Director region into which it is placed, the image will be cropped or there will be blank space in the region.

Content Dimensions

Content dimensions for images depend on whether the image will play in full screen mode or in one region of a multi-region screen template.

If the content is shown in full screen mode, then the image should match the resolution of the graphics screen:

Full Screen HD/SD Mode: 1920x1080 (maximum supported by all DMPs)

If the content is shown in a region of a multi-region screen template, then the image should match the dimensions of that specific region.

Note: For the CV-UHD2, CV-UHD and SV-4K, UHD video can be displayed in full ultra HD resolution (3840x2160) when using any of the Dynamic Signage Director templates using the primary video region. For additional information, refer to Restrictions for UHD Video Content, page 74.

Content Orientation

The default orientation for all content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director is landscape mode.

Portrait Mode Auto-Rotation

Note: The term "auto-rotation" does *not* mean that the content will rotate automatically with physical rotation of the TV display (such as happens with mobile device screens). It means that the *DMP* rotates the content for display in 1080x1920 orientation. From a TV's usual horizontal mounting position, the TV should be rotated 90 degrees (clockwise) for proper display of portrait mode content.

Portrait mode auto-rotation allows DMPs to automatically rotate all content for proper orientation on vertically-positioned displays, according to the following guidelines:

Supports all content sources for a single TV display.

Content Orientation

- For multicast streaming video only, supports scaling of content across multiple display screens.
- Is enabled using the "dmp.portrait" display parameter when configuring TV display specifications in the Configuration interface.

Note: When using video in portrait mode, do not scale the video beyond the full HD resolution. Ideally, the aspect ratio of the video relative to the screen region should match, for non-UHD video.

Flexible DMP Content Rotation

Release 6.0 introduced portrait-view content display. We enhanced that feature by allowing you to rotate the content 90 degrees and -90 degrees (or +270 degrees). This works for all content like videos, static images, widgets, local and multicast video, and external URLs. For situations where the display monitor has already been installed in a portrait position and to show your content the way you want, rotate the content.

To rotate content:

- 1. Click Configuration > Devices > Display Specifications.
- 2. Choose the specific display from the list on the left panel and click the **Display Parameters** tab in the right panel (Figure 1 on page 68).

i igure i Enubling unipiper truit Diopluy i uruniete	Figure 1	Enabling	dmp.portrait	Display	Paramete
--	----------	----------	--------------	----------------	----------

9.20-512 Augure 7	reasons in and particular	i dan			
Devices					
Locations & DMPs	Location - DMP Mapping	Pittores Local Greenal	Thighty Specifications		
+ - # 0			Rang Trily Course Po	(any second s	
Dagma Spectrumore	time	Rose	+ - 20		
10.0 m losses	PERMIT	(State and state of s	Desire Parameters	Furthered States	
Automa Plante	Address	172249-8-91-05	And the Party of t	res coupers	
Geol/energence.	Card .	US884018525	dep-honoridadi.	Ra Colland	
VENILLY Recent	14	49	and the second lines	the Carlighter	
1440 M-43.202	Staget a	#F-40.000	1000-000-000-000	Aur (induces)	
imposite del concerno	trapia .	46493202	and traditionality	the contractor	
mages \$8.1.741.154	angle .	Add-Light-Add	Ing-wardows	to Contigoet	
10.18.403	18	16.421	any conception of	to betweet	
100 J CD 4000	100	423 102	Summittee and south	No Collegent	
Damage MILL	farming.	100.01	ang th Connects/Chill	Aut Contigued	
Soriy (1985-54,547	dana .	THE ALTER	And Association (A) (31)	Ref Colland	
New Distances	bey.	9451394	the latest functions:	The Configuration	
1044 4DL 0000000	Bity .	421-1001101	and international little	the Company	
34445-400100	ten.	HEL-A010100	the second second	Int Carlinson	
100y103-000100	Arry	405.4610100	and and the second	No Column	
344440-0222488	Bary .	NGA 10002100	the Latitude	No. Destaurant	
Territoria 1220-00	Same	10240		the first state of the state of	

 Add or Edit a Display Parameter called dmp.portrait or dmp.portrait.clockwise and set it to "true" to achieve the proper rotation value you need (see Figure 2 on page 68).

Note: By default, if you use dmp.portrait and set "true" to your content, it rotates the content 90 degree. If you set dmp.portrait.clockwise to "true", it will rotate the content 270 degrees (or -90 degrees).

Figure 2 Adding dmp.portrait Display Parameter

Jose Gameral Landaciana, Calula Francia	
offgeni (bite	
otyped have that	
-	

- 4. Click Save.
- 5. Reboot the DMPs after setting this parameter. Click Device Management (Figure 3 on page 69).

- 6. Use the check boxes to select the DMP(s) that you set the dmp.portrait parameter.
- 7. Use the drop-down arrow to select Reboot DMP.
- 8. Click the Play icon (Send Command) to execute the reboot command.

Figure 3 **Reboot DMP** 0303 Clsco Vision Dynamic Signage Director H O O E H & 0 Y = 1 Devices T. B. · In Section 1 · Balancer's factors to in .00 .00 10.00 .00 Ind had it had

Note: When using video in portrait mode, do not scale the video beyond the full HD resolution. Ideally, the aspect ratio of the video relative to the screen region should match, for non-UHD video.

Figure 4 on page 69 is a figure displaying rotated content +90 and +270 degrees. Use portrait and portrait clockwise. You can only use +90 and +270 (-90).







Automated Content Import to Library Inbox

New to Release 6.2 is running an automated import of content from a defined source. The source may be a defined SFTP location. There can be multiple SFTP locations defined in the system. This feature can be registered as a task and the task configured to run every day.

Note: A file that is already imported to Cisco Vision Director using the SFTP feature cannot be reimported with the same content name.

Figure 5 on page 70 shows how to access it in Library. Add the designated sites here.

Figure 5 Automated Content Import

Cisco Vision D	ynamic Signage Directo	t:	• 0 0 H	M F 0		At 101-00 - 2 A
(Lipsut Silan)	Weitness in					
- Inbox		8				
C and the	7754	1100	949	LAST WOOPSD	dumence.	REDOLUTION
 Library 	2.010	strageting.	71107548	1000-07-10.0140	1.	11010400
a broasts	and and the second second	adapted .	42,4365	inni ori ta la br		+ data la Pession
English of the	TOTAL REAL PROV	inspected.	PLATER	1000-00-01 14.07.	4	#15aart
 Volume. 	10/4 Jun	-adapt	2012145	2000-01-14-04-01-	18	7,04219.
O Widgem	2 Deckground State	100003010	117.82.48	2020-00-00-01-00	4	279636-72868
England and	1 starping	inspirit .	74.55.16	- 2000 08-00 10 10 02.	1.1	1000-1000
Channels .	01,PL Description, 2022.	wheeted	10.00 MB	3000-06-02 22 44	10	1325+1680
C Externet Chatterill	Addition of Danie Start Designation.	-maintain and	16-12-140	2010-04-14 2016	16	Mark-Titon
Constant States of the	Person Pard	-press and -	11 74 949	- Jacob (M) 10, 22, 35	10 A	10404
 Playlists 						
• Tags						
O term Tug						
Additional accounting						
100,00						
10.07						
10,000 F						

To create a designated site to fetch files:

1. Click New Site. The Create Site box appears in the right panel (Figure 6 on page 70).

Figure 6 Create New Site to Get Content From

-
•.
*1

- 2. Fill in the required fields.
- Choose a Host Folder and a designation folder (To Folder) where the content will reside in Cisco Vision Director. If you don't choose a destination folder, the content goes to the Inbox list of sites.
- 4. Schedule a Start and End time to fetch files. The time defined should be greater than 30 minutes.
- 5. Click Save.

After you create a new site, you can Test or Delete the source sites (Figure 7 on page 71).



	the Denaits				
In the Party	i.				
# Anna 117	#Annia 11/0613118 :				
Logit IT have	Lapi II Seerila Pitanti				
Paramet					
Parlanan					
	10 - 41 AM	•=			
10000	in al Ad	• :			

To download, copy, or delete the content:

1. Select the content and right click it. An Action box appears (Figure 8 on page 71).

Figure 8 Action Box Operations for Auto-Content Import

d Linear Louis	1.000						She Despis	
	1012000							
3-daux				17990		In take from	-	
And Table		- Land	A Designed of the local division of the loca	(Dermo) from	141 148	PARKY 111	141 1 1 1 1 M	
Phy 2011 (1918)	11.000		10.000 (10.000	Comp	212-34			
Notes (1	-	10.040-010.000	State of the local division of the local div	12 0-00-	10-2 644	Ŧ	
Library						Automation and	_	
2 Prospect						and being the	with the later later	
· Maines						-		1
O Million						Lines and	and the local division in which the	
Cictures						()		
O Convert Covert						1.1.1.1		
							and loss	
Playton.							20.100.00	* 5
-						1-mile	Dermit .	
Taga .							35 - 31 - 99	
0 (re. 74								
later							derres and	

If you choose **Download Now**, you see "Content Import successfully triggered now." This action executes the content import On Demand. The content appears in the site folder. If you didn't choose a destination folder (in red box above), all the imported files are visible under the sites in the Inbox list.

IMPORTANT NOTES:

- A file that is already imported to Cisco Vision Director using the SFTP feature cannot be reimported with the same content name.
- If you did not specify a Folder in the import action, you *must* move all the files to the correct Workspace folder or subfolders you've created. Otherwise the content is not available to use in a playlist.
- If you delete a site, the site is not visible in the list. However, the site details are not removed until the scheduled task runs. The default time is 8:00 am. If you need to create a site with the same name before the scheduled task runs, click Configuration > System Configuration > Scheduled Tasks. Scroll down to ContentImportDeleteTask (Figure 9 on page 64). Configure this task; use the Edit icon. The Schedule Task Edit dialog box appears. This allows you to add the same site details the same day.

sk

tites Cisco Vision	Dynamic Signage Delector	H 1. 0. N		100000 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
System Cooligura	100 Denter Sellinge (3) ge/fitz hentrije (3)	ina Tape	Teacher	Ser.
		Nyi sihani ba Ing nyi Sahirina Nyi Shina Sakirina Misani Sa	ana produktionen Statu	mana Integ meta Integ
D Annual Ingen		Language Tradition and Tell Spin Transmission (Concerning) Names and Tell Spinsor (Concerning) (Million Sciences)	print (access) (in a) (in a) (in a)	
■ 		bhochail Iostanailte fail Iostanailte failt fragtar Iostan frank searchairth	91.0 minit: 200 minite 91.0 1 minite	taning control control control control
		Contractor Internet Southan	and the second	

To manage your content source assets once they are placed in a folder:

1. Select one from the Library Inbox and right click. The action box appears (Figure 10 on page 72).

Figure 10 Inbox Content Source Assets

their Choo Velor Dynamic Signage Director				0.0.0	8	Minner + E.A.
10mm	Balance (Stages)					
+ 80ci (
0 tone (100	-	100	101	uni marrai	WILLIAM	1 DECK
101-100 FEE	1 - 17,16,5706 - 700	Andrew Const.	43446	200 - 2 0 0 0	and a	0.000
	a there	Transmission in the local division of the lo	21-12-14 124274-04	100.000	Concella Territoria	The State St
a Intern	122	Country of the	12 10 10	And 10 10 10 10 10	Address of the local division of the local d	Daniel Br
· Villeon	a since	1-10-10-1	41714	100 0 1771 0 100 0 0 0 0 0	The second secon	termination and the second sec
Chiberen.	And Personal Property lies	A Annual State	101010	and the second second	State of State	Annual Victoria
O County County	- and a second second	The lot of	147-15	2000-00-1110-01 0000-00-00-00-00-00	10410 2016/00	and the second s
+ Paytote	A Real Print, Sparse	-	10.00	Anno - 11 - 12 - 42	and the second	termination (
· Torr	a da Aytuna	-	1.01-04		100-04	Plactice Back Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec.
@ here late	+	*****	200.04.00		-	instal for facilities for the
4030303-000-0777-0	a barrent pa	-	11110	1	1000	
4-10-8-81 Sept -111-1	and the second second second	1100-010	1.1.44-10	11 TH 11 TH 11	1.1000.000	

Content source files can be batch uploaded to Library, as long as all the content files go into the same folder you create.

To set the configuration properties for the content site:

- Click Configuration > System Configuration > Dynamic Signage Director Settings > Content Source Settings (Figure 11 on page 73).
- **2.** Select the property you want to change.
- 3. Click Edit (pencil icon). The Edit Configuration Setting dialog box appears.
- 4. Type in the specific value you want.
- 5. Click Save.
Content Scaling

• In Terraria Taplage Destrict Settings (4) 23 Mailore Innor (Settigantia) <u></u>	
Context Summer Summerson Context Summer Summerson Context Summer Summer Summerson Summer Summerson Summerso	Annalytika usera of (united Social T) (10) National and the transitional constraints (10) National and the UTP annumber Admentication of a feature Admentication of a feature I	1 200 0000 4	

Figure 11 Set Values for Content Source Settings

Use **System Configuration** to configure global settings for automated content import for the configuration properties shown above. Use the **Asset Library** (Figure 10 on page 72) window to configure and setup the content sources.

To set the registry value for automated content:

- 1. Click Configuration > System Configuration > Advanced Registry Settings.
- 2. Scroll to inbox.maxContentSourcesAllowed and select it. The default value is 5 (Figure 12 on page 73).

Figure 12 Automated Content Registry Value

Cinco Vision Dynamic Signaph	Deector	N 0 0 8 6 1	0	$A(0)=\{x_{i},x_{i}\}\in A$
System Configuration				
· Britanna Sapara Status (Strategy (St.	1.5.	- 🖸 👳		
C () Marin I in Types	Rep.		Makes	
 Conservations Parameters Conservations formage. 	100	an maniphing -		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Characteristic Print Pr	1640	
In Auto Implantics: Seringe (1) In Management Internant (1)	1000	out of the local division	132	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	ere lit his that		
• in faster (mar)		ul Littue Litty appli	-	
An free faces beings (2)		A Party Party and States		
+* Stread her	104	the party of the second second second	-	
	100	Note and all probably services.	- Field and Annual Technology 1	
	0.40	and a second set of a second set of the	198	
	1.00%	North All and a second	summer better i	

- 3. Click Edit to change the value. The Edit Configuration Setting dialog box appears.
- 4. Type in the specific value you want.
- 5. Click Save.

Content Scaling

Scaling refers to support of two things:

- Stretching of the content.
- Showing only a portion of the content per display in a multi-screen video wall.

Note: Content scaling works with multicast video and local video, as well as for static graphics, widgets, and external URLs.

Content Scaling

Note: Scale down large content and keep the correct aspect ratio. If your image or widget resolution is smaller than the region, the content resolution will not scale up.

No need to configure. This is just an added feature/ability of Cisco Vision Director. For video walls, videos always scale to the region. However, if your region is out of spec, it may not display. For non-video, content will be scaled down (scale-to-fit for images and widgets, maintaining aspect ratio; scale-to-fill for external URL). This feature will scale non-video content down so it will not spill over beyond the region size.

Limitation: If you have content that is too small for your region, you can scale up-for video only.

Best practice: Match content resolutions with region resolutions.

Additional Guidelines for UHD Video Content

- Best Practices for UHD Video Content, page 74
- Restrictions for UHD Video Content, page 74

Best Practices for UHD Video Content

Before preparing video content with UHD resolution for the SV-4K, CV-UHD, or CV-UHD2 digital media player, consider the following best practice:

When using any templates with native UHD video, it is best to design all content/regions for HD 1920 x 1080. The image content that is displayed with the UHD video will resize proportionally to a 3840 x 2160 canvas size automatically.

UHD video is displayed in full ultra HD resolution (3840 x 2160) when using any of the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director templates using the primary video region.

Restrictions for UHD Video Content

Before preparing video content with UHD resolution, consider the following restrictions:

- Video content with UHD resolution is only supported by the SV-4K, CV-UHD, and CV-UHD2 DMPs.
- Video content with UHD resolution is not supported in portrait mode.
- H.264 video encoding is not supported. Be sure that your content tools support H.265 encoding.
- H.264 video is not supported for streaming content.
- Videos with UHD resolution are not supported for HDMI-In streaming.
- Display of dual UHD video regions is not supported.
- The UHD video region should be played in the primary video region only. A secondary video region can support up to HD (1920 x 1080) video resolution.
- No luma key can be applied to UHD video content. Luma keying is only supported with UHD for dual video when an HD video in the secondary region uses a luma key over a UHD video in the primary region.
- The Screen Template editor in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director presents all region sizes based on an HD 1920x1080 canvas size. Do not configure templates based on the ultra HD size of 3840x2160 when using a UHD display.
- If you are using a UHD display, configure a fixed resolution value of 3840 x 2160 x 60p in the sv4k.videoMode serial command (Figure 13 on page 75) in the TV Display Specification.

Content Types and Use Specifications

tea Claco Vision	Dynamic Signa	let Director	H 0 0 E	W the O	Winnin + ±
Devices					
Locations 6,104%	Louise DAP Maple	Pittern Louis Open	Dista Section	- 1	
+ - # Q			Rest with Disalas I	and the second se	
Charles Specifications	- Antonio	nor 1			
Augustine Physiological	Anna and a second	173304,6-47-22	an and the	- Frank - La Barra	
Concerning (1975)	det .	London Marchael	and become in the	And Contacted	
MONTO: Name	Citry .	Aug.	Statutes.	And Configured	
mapre 55 512,002	4444	No. of Concession, Name	Tracing of	her Dorfgreet	
sugar bir als (the)	tergin'	10.00.002	manifestion i	And Configuration	
angen hil- a the mak	Anna and a state of the state o	minute international internati	Taxable P	the backgroup	
10.16.00.	1.00	10.0	interestd.	adds a second statements	
985-122-800	100	100 ADM 1		a second s	
Damage #85/7-3	Served.	mate .	The section of	· No Contained	
Anna PAR-CAUMA	144	mail factors and a second seco	mainmation	ad the low time of the state of	
Any Ald Alleri	date:	an spec	Station Station	ADDITION OF ADDITION	
here, 615. (2511) 40	- Sary	10.01110	and the second second	and a second sec	
Name and ADDRESS	C.Nvv	10.42510	And inclusion.	and the second descent to	
help b(c-maximum	344	tob, employee	day to the second	Annual state of the local	
April 424, 12101-00	Are	mit. 4(1)(-1)	successive and	1 logost	
Aurerte 12(2+0)	damenter.	1010-0	the costs life av	the second se	
Dates M. DO	(units)	ALCONT .	destantion -		

Figure 13 sv4k.videoMode Display Parameter

Content Types and Use Specifications

Quad-Region Template Specifications

Here are the specifications:

- Quad-region template video design is only available on the CV-UHD and CV-UHD2 DMP.
- Quad-region template video is a fixed 2x2 template on each screen, taking up the entire screen in four, equal parts. That means there is no adjustable template/positioning, z-layer ordering or overlap.
- No luma key support.
- No support for use in scripting other than potentially to put the display into quad video mode.
- Local control API controls video regions to change channels and switch audio to a different region.
- One quadrant of audio at a time is supported; select the active audio via local control API only.
- No support for images, widget text overlays, or external URLs while in quad video mode.
- No support for Dolby Vision content.

Enabling Dolby Vision

The Series 4 DMPS (CV-UHD2 and CV-HD2) are high dynamic range 10 (HDR10) and Dolby Vision capable. These DMPs will automatically detect HDR content. For HDR10 content, if the DMP transitions from non-HDR to HDR content, an "HDR" logo may flash on the top right corner of the display.

For Dolby Vision playback, you must append the sv4k.videoMode with :dbv.

To set Dolby Vision playback:

1. Click Configuration > Devices > Display Specifications > Display Parameters.

Content Types and Use Specifications

2. To set the device to use Dolby Vision, append :dbv to the video mode setting (Figure 14 on page 76).

Figure 14 Edit Display Parameter for Dolby Vision

information and in the second s	
and the state weather and	
and the second sec	
CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER.	

When you add :dbv to the videomode, the DMP may flash the Dolby Vision logo in the top right corner of the display.

Important Observations:

- If video mode is set to auto detect, DWS will show the video mode for a UHD display as 3840x2160x60 when playing non-HDR content.
- When playing Dolby Vision or HDR10, the video mode in DWS changes to 3840x2160x60p HDR10 (auto).
- If video mode forces Dolby Vision (:dbv), DWS will show the color depth of the content.

Contraints:

- Dolby Vision is fully supported only on the CV-UHD2 DMP.
- When using Dolby Vision enabled content, only one video decoder is available.
- There is no warning in Script Validation when using Dolby Vision content.
- Playing HDR video on a non-HDR-capable DMP or display will have color distortion.

For more information about how to specify the TV display resolution, see the "Configuring Resolution in Display Specifications" in the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Operations Guide.

HDR10 Content

- HDR10 supports dual videos
- HDR/HDR10 is fully supported only on the CV-UHD2 DMP

Table 1 on page 76 shows the current DMP capabilities with content types.

Model	HDR10	Hybrid Log Gamma (HLG)	Dolby Vision
CV-UHD2	Yes	Yes	Yes
CV-HD2	Full Screen	Full Screen	No
CV-UHD	Full Screen	Full Screen	No
CV-HD	Full Screen	Full Screen	No
SV-4K	Full Screen	Full Screen	No
DMP-2K	Full Screen	Full Screen	No

Table 1 Video Content Capability by DMP Model

Note: Portrait mode is not supported with HDR, HLG, or Dolby Vision content.

•••|•••|•• CISCO

HTML Content Creation Guidelines for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

This module provides some general guidelines for creating HTML5 content for playback on the media players in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Note: These guidelines should generally work for the media players in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director. However, certain elements may not render as expected. Test all of your HTML content before putting it into production. For more information, see Verify HTML Content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 81.

- Best Practices for HTML Features with Hardware-Acceleration, page 77
- Content Restrictions for HTML5, page 78
- Guidelines for Creation of HTML5 Pages, page 79
- HTML5 for Touchscreens, page 79
- Animations and Add-on Libraries, page 80
- Network Latency Workaround, page 80
- Verify HTML Content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director, page 81
- Rotated UHD Output, page 81

Best Practices for HTML Features with Hardware-Acceleration

Note: This section describes some of the hardware-accelerated features and guidelines that generally should work for the media players. There may be limitations that are not documented here.

The following features and effects are hardware-accelerated and recommended:

- SVG graphics combined with CSS transforms
- Effects that use -webkit-transform (preferred), or transform
- Animations that use -webkit-animation-* and -webkit-keyframes
- Any CSS transitions (for example, -webkit-transition)

Note: It is not required to use the "-webkit-" prefix, but we recommend it as a best practice.

The following features are not hardware-accelerated and should be avoided:

-ms-transform, -moz-transform, or -o-transform

Note: This restriction includes avoiding other unsupported Chromium features that begin with -ms- and -moz- and -o-.

Javascript-based animations and effects.

Content Restrictions for HTML5

- Video only when *not* tagged with the hwz attribute, or hwz attribute is set to OFF.
- Avoid loading or referencing sites that load all content into one, very large HTML page. That requires a large amount of physical and virtual memory.

Note: The video element, by default, is not hardware-accelerated and is not recommended or supported–unless you tag the video with the hwz attribute. Up to 2 video regions can be on the screen at the same time, depending on the DMP model you are using. This includes other live and local video regions from Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Content Restrictions for HTML5

The following content restrictions are associated with HTML5 pages:

- Do not use HTML5 content as a general purpose web browser. The media players are an HTML5 player with interactive capabilities, not a web-surfing tool.
- The media players do not support Flash content. Any HTML5 pages that have embedded Flash content will not display correctly. Most Flash-authoring applications, including the Adobe Creative Suite, have tools that allow you to export Flash content as HTML5.
- The media players do not support Media Source Extensions (MSE).
- Certain video streaming sites use codecs that are unsupported.

Table 1 on page 78 lists several types of streaming and their codecs.

Туре	Description
HLS (HTTP Live Streaming)	Encapsulation: MPEG2-TS for video streams (raw AAC or MP3 for audio-only streams).
	Codec: H.264 (or H.265 for video streams).
UDP/RTP	UDP/RTP encoders: Exterity e3535 and Comm-Tec ProTUNE III Encapsulation: MPEG2-TS or MPEG4.
	Note: If the video stream is using RTSP to control connections between endpoints, the video must be encapsulated using MPEG2-TS.
	Codec: H.264 (or H.265 for video streams).
HTTP	Codec: Any video codec currently supported (including H.265 for UHD models).
Encryption Protocols	DMPs support several video encryption protocols (via HTML).

Table 1 Supported Video Streaming Protocols

- The image size on HTML5 pages is limited to 1920x1080x32bpp. The media players will fail to display pages that contain images that are larger than this restriction.
- The HTML canvas size is 1920X1080, even if you are using UHD video. This restriction applies to all DMP models.
- Do not use warping animations when displaying a new piece of content.
- Web DB/indexed DB/local storage settings are ignored for CV-HD2.
- CV-HD2 with micro SD card has storage of 60 GB.
- For external HTML pages, we do not recommend using video, especially non-streaming video.

Guidelines for Creation of HTML5 Pages

Guidelines for Creation of HTML5 Pages

Follow these guidelines when creating HTML5 pages:

Verify the HTML5 page has the same aspect ratio as your signage display.

If you are displaying HTML5 content in a widget that is smaller than the screen, fit the page to the same aspect ratio as the widget.

- Use a lead Div aligned to 0,0 when building an HTML page. This will ensure correct alignment.
- Be aware of page refresh behavior. Every time a page refreshes, the player will retrieve all page elements again (without caching them). If the page is being hosted on a remote server, the page elements will be loaded as they arrive over the connection, resulting in poor aesthetics for pages that are frequently refreshed.

For pages that will refresh often, include code (for example, JavaScript, Ajax, other) so only dynamic elements on the page reload when the page refreshes.

If you are using the web page for digital signage, consider hiding scrollbars.

To hide scrollbars, add the following snippet to your CSS code:

```
::-webkit-scrollbar { width: 0px; height: 0px;
background: black;}
```

Rendered Versions and Support

Table 2 on page 79shows the web-rendering engines used with each firmware version.

Web Rendering Engine	Firmware Version	Cisco Vision Director Release Version
Chromium 69	8.3.22	Cisco Vision Director Release 6.4
Chromium 69	8.1.69	Cisco Vision Director Release 6.3
Chromium 65	8.0.x	Cisco Vision Director Release 6.2
Chromium 45	7.1.x, 7.0.x, 6.2.x	Cisco Vision Director Release 6.1.x, 6.0.x
Chromium 37	6.1.x, 6.0.x	StadiumVision Director 5.0.x
WebKit	5.1.x, 5.0.x, 4.8.x, 4.7.x	StadiumVision Director 4.0.x

Table 2 Web Rendering Engines Used

Caution: Performance is not guaranteed or tested for external web content. External web content can negatively impact the operation of your DMPs. Test external web content.

HTML5 for Touchscreens

For proper touchscreen operation with HTML5 pages, verify your touchscreen devices are human interface device (HID)-compliant and use standard HID drivers.

Note: Some manufacturers claim support for HID but use custom drivers. Verify standard HID drivers are used.

Animations and Add-on Libraries

Animations and Add-on Libraries

This section provides some general rules about support for animations and add-on libraries for the WebKit or Chromium engine on the media players, including:

- Vector Animations, page 80
- Bitmap Animations, page 80
- CSS Transforms, page 80
- Add-on Libraries, page 80

Vector Animations

Use the SVG protocol to specify vector animations.

Bitmap Animations

Bitmap animations display smoothly when they are 1/3 or less of a 1080p HTML canvas. Setting the canvas size to 720p allows for larger high-quality animations to occupy the screen.

CSS Transforms

All CSS transforms should be specified as WebKit transforms. When performing a transform on a <div> or graphics element, we do not recommend specifying the transform in-line.

Animations that use the "top" and "left" properties are rendered using the CPU. We recommend using the translate() and translate3d() methods instead, to offload work onto the GPU, ensuring smoother animations.

The following code shows an example of an effective CSS transform:

```
<style>
.flipme{
-webkit-animation-name:flipon;
-webkit-animation-fill-mode:forwards;
-webkit-animation-iteration-count:1;
-webkit-animation-duration:2s;
}
@-webkit-keyframes flipon
{
0% {-webkit-transform:rotateY(0deg);}
30% {-webkit-transform:rotateY(-90deg);}
100% {-webkit-transform: rotateY(360deg);} image
}
</style>
```

Add-on Libraries

The jQuery and Prototype libraries are supported on the media players. As a general rule, any add-on libraries for animation will work if they use WebKit-based transformations. To verify if a certain library is compatible, look at a non-minified version of the library to see if it uses WebKit-based transforms.

Network Latency Workaround

When the media player loads HTML content from a URL, there might be a delay based on network latency. Add a preloaded image to lessen this issue.

Verify HTML Content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

Verify HTML Content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

Best practice: always test your content with Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director and the DMP.

- Although you can choose to test your HTML content independently of the Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director system, performance varies from browser to browser.
- Results that you get from independent testing on your laptop is not a guarantee for expected results within Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director.

Your computer has virtual memory and physical memory beyond the capacity of the DMP, as well as differences in graphics processing.

To do high-level testing of renditions only to test basic functionality of HTML features, consider the following guidelines:

- Install a version of Chromium browser software on your laptop that matches the DMP firmware for your release.
- The version of Chromium varies by DMP firmware release.

DMP firmware for Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director Release 6.3 uses Chromium version 69.

Rotated UHD Output

- The CV-UHD2 and CV-UHD DMPS can output portrait HD video (1080x1920) at 60p. Multiple portrait video windows are supported (up to 60p for both the source file and the output), but the total area of all video windows should not exceed 1080x1920.
- Displaying an HTML page and rotated video while using a UHD output mode will cause the video to flicker. This is the case even if the video is not part of the HTML page.

Rotated HD Output

The CV-HD2 and CV-HD DMPs can output portrait HD video (1080x1920) at 60p. The frame rate of the source video should not exceed 30p.

Time Localization in JavaScript

The JavaScript toLocaleTimeString() call does not retrieve localized time formats (i.e. 24-hour vs. 12-hour clock). Instead, the hour/minute clock defaults to 24-hour time on the media player. The below code provides a workaround in JavaScript to display time using a 12-hour clock:

1. Create the following function:

```
function format12Hour(date)
{
var zero = '0';
hh = date.getHours();
mm = date.getMinutes(); ss = date.getSeconds() if((hh % 12) == 0) hh = 12; else
hh %= 12;
// Pad zero values to 00 hh = (zero+hh).slice(-2); mm = (zero+mm).slice(-2);
ss = (zero+ss).slice(-2);
return hh + ':' + mm + ':' + ss + ' ' + ((date.getHours()
< 12) ? 'AM' :
'PM');
}</pre>
```

2. Optionally, to not display seconds information, replace the above "return" line with the following:

Verify HTML Content in Cisco Vision Dynamic Signage Director

return hh + ':' + mm + ' ' + ((date.getHours() < 12) ? 'AM' : 'PM');

3. Implement the function in the HTML script as follows:

```
var dateString = (startJSDate.getMonth() + 1) + "/" + startJSDate.getDate();
if (!startDateTime.isDateOnly()) {
  dateString += " -- " + format12Hour(startJSDate);
}
```